
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council  

FROM: David E. Cox, Town Manager  

DATE: June 22, 2023 

SUBJECT: Agenda Information – 6/27/2023 

The following is additional or summary information regarding matters on the upcoming Town Council 
Agenda.  The numbering below follows the agenda, and some routine or self-explanatory items are not 
discussed in this memo.  As you review your packet materials, please do not hesitate to contact the 
appropriate staff member or me prior to the Council meeting with any questions or concerns.  

7 Resolutions/Ordinances/Policies/Proclamations 
7a Proclamation Naming Bevin Park – In follow up to the request made by the Old Home Days 
Committee and the original suggestion made by the family that donated the land, the Council is asked to 
formalize an action naming the grounds north of Center School as Bevin Park.  In 1923, the Bevin family 
donated the parcel of land north of Center School to the town for use as athletic fields.  In the deed, the 
family suggested that the property could be named Bevin Park in honor of the family’s history in Town 
and in recognition of the donation.  It was not a requirement, and it is not believed any formal action 
was taken to so name the area.  This action is intended to honor that request by naming the athletic 
fields north of Center School as Bevin Park.  A bench is being installed adjacent to a walkway into the 
park with the name and Bevin Park will be dedicated at an event as part of Old Home Days. 

Recommendation:  Approve the Resolution naming Bevin Park. 

7b Ordinance regarding the Volunteer Stipend – The Town Council is asked to consider an 
amendment to the portion of the Town Code that provides for the stipend paid annually to volunteers 
for the Fire Department, Ambulance Association and the Civil Preparedness Director.  The amendment is 
being suggested to address the changes made at the Ambulance Association in the pay model for 
individuals that respond.  While many members remain volunteers who receive small payments for their 
response similar to the way they have been paid in the past, some responders are now paid a per diem 
for shifts and function more like traditional employees.  As such, the proposed amendment makes clear 
the requirement that the person receiving a stipend be a volunteer who is paid only a small amount that 
is less than the threshold established in the Fair Labor Standards Act for “volunteer” and that the person 
is not paid through the per diem process.  Additionally, references to specific sections of the various 
organization bylaws have been removed to prevent confusion in the future.  If this seems acceptable, 
the Council should set a public hearing to occur concurrent with the next regular meeting. 

Recommendation:  Set a public hearing for July 11. 

7c Ordinance amending the Business Incentive Program – The Town Council is asked to review 
revised recommendations from the Economic Development Commission on changes to the ordinance 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 6/27/2023 
June 22, 2023 
Page 2 
 

 
 

establishing the tax abatement incentive program for new or existing businesses in Town that invest in 
building improvements and/or business expansion.  EDC Chairperson Marlene Geary will present the 
proposed changes which are intended to simplify the process for applicants and provide better 
information for review to the EDC and Council for future considerations.  In addition, the Commission is 
recommending a name change for the program to the East Hampton Tax Abatement Program or ETAP.  
If the Council finds the adjustments acceptable, a public hearing should be set for the next regular 
meeting. 
 
 Recommendation:  Set a public hearing for July 11. 
 
8 Continued Business 
8b Discussion regarding an official representative to the Ambulance Association Board – As 
discussed during meetings with the East Hampton Ambulance Association and as part of moving toward 
a more permanent resolution to the questions related to how this service will be provided in the future, 
the Council is asked to consider its representation to the East Hampton Ambulance Association board. 
 

Recommendation:  Discuss the matter and determine representation. 
 
9 New Business 
9a Consideration of a request for use of the Yellow Ribbon Tree in the Village Center – On behalf 
of the VFW Auxiliary, the Town Council is asked to consider a request for permission to put red ribbons 
on the Yellow Ribbon Tree during Old Home Days in honor of the Fire Department’s 100th anniversary, 
which is being celebrated during the event and, in particular, during the parade on Saturday. 

 
 Recommendation:  Approve the use. 
 
9b Consideration of a request for contribution to the Bevin Park name bench – The Town Council 
is asked to approve a request for a $2,300 donation to fund the final costs of the bench naming the 
fields north of Center School as Bevin Park as proposed in the deed donating the land and as requested 
by the Old Home Days Committee.  The Old Home Days Committee raised $2,800 for the bench and the 
small committee that was tasked with determining the final plans for naming the park has requested the 
Town to make this final contribution.  Funds are available in the Town Council section of the budget to 
fund this payment. 
 
 Recommendation:  Approve the donation and payment. 
 
9c Consideration of actions related to the Middle School Roof Replacement Contract – Bids were 
received on Friday, June 16 for this project, which includes full removal and replacement of the roof at 
the Middle School including removal of leaking skylights and allowances for deck replacement and other 
potential repairs.  The lowest bid was received from Armani Restoration, Inc. of Middletown in the 
recommended amount of $1,798,500, which is below the budget estimate amount of just under $2.3 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 6/27/2023 
June 22, 2023 
Page 3 
 

 
 

million.  The Middle School Roof Committee approved the contract, and the Superintendent has sent a 
notice to proceed to the contractor in order to move the project ahead so that it may be completed this 
summer.  However, the resolution establishing the Committee requires the Council to approve the 
contract.  As such, the Council is asked to confirm the actions of the Committee and the Superintendent 
and to approve award of the contract to Armani Restoration. 
 
 Recommendation:  Approve a motion to confirm the actions of the Committee and the 
Superintendent and to approve award of a contract to Armani Restoration, Inc. of Middletown in the not 
to exceed amount of $1,798,500 for the Middle School Roof Replacement Project. 
 
9d Consideration of a revised Job Description for the Park Maintainer II position – The Council is 
asked to approve a revised Job Description for the Park Maintainer II position, which is the higher level 
regular park maintainer position.  The main focus of the change is to eliminate a previous requirement 
for a CDL driver license in favor of certifications in Playground Safety Inspection and watercraft 
operation.  While this position (as well as the Park Maintainer I position) does work for Public Works in 
the off season, it does not need a CDL for the work it performs.  The revised requirements better meets 
the Town’s needs for the position. 
 
 Recommendation:  Approve the revised Description. 
 
9e Consideration of a proposed phosphorous removal treatment for the lake – The Council is 
asked to consider a recommendation from the Conservation Lake Commission to use a product called 
Metafloc in Lake Pocotopaug in the upcoming weeks.  Metafloc is a product that binds with 
phosphorous in the water and causes it to settle to the bottom of the water where it cannot be used by 
algae and other undesirable organisms.    This is another tool being used to prevent blue green algae 
from forming before becoming an issue on the lake, which would cause an herbicide treatment.  Staff 
has communicated with representatives of DEEP, who indicate that the Town may undertake this 
treatment at this time without need for a permit provided a proper contractor is used.  Everblue Lakes 
will be the applicator. 
 
 Recommendation:   Approve the Metafloc application. 
 
9f Consideration of a monthly Town budget for July – In light of the fact that a FY2024 budget has 
not been approved and in accordance with State Statute, the Council is asked to approve a basic budget 
for the month of July, which will allow Town operations to continue.  The budget in the amount of 
$3,068,925 has been developed using several strategies based on the current FY 2023 budget and 
previous spending during this month in previous years.  Amounts for the proposed budget have been 
either increased or reduced from  1-twelfth of the fiscal year amount in consideration of known 
spending needs during this time period, including, for example, known debt payments or reductions in 
known staffing for whom pay is required.  Notably, no funding is included for transfers to the Capital 
Improvement Fund.  This approval of monthly budgets will continue until a budget is approved at which 
point the approved budget immediately controls back to the beginning of the fiscal year. 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 6/27/2023 
June 22, 2023 
Page 4 

Recommendation:  Approve the Monthly Budget for July in the amount of $3,068,925. 

9f Consideration of pension plan updates – The Council is asked to consider some administrative 
updates to the pension plan.  As noted in Finance Director Jylkka’s memo, the amendments will update 
the mortality tables used in the calculations, will allow participants who take their benefits later than 
they are allowed to receive a revised amount and to allow the plan to keep funds for participants who 
cannot be located after they are able to collect benefits.  The revisions are expected to be financially 
neutral or slightly beneficial to the plan. 

Recommendation:  Approve the Pension Plan revisions. 

The remainder of the items are of a routine nature, in the sole purview of the Council or are 
announcements.  Please contact me or the appropriate staff member with questions or concerns. 



Town Council Special Meeting 1 6/13/2023 Minutes 

Town of East Hampton 
Town Council Special Meeting 

Tuesday, June 13, 2023 
Town Hall 2nd Floor Conference Room #201 

MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Mark Philhower, Vice Chairman Tim Feegel, Council Members Pete Brown, 
Brandon Goff, Eric Peterson, Kevin Reich and Alison Walck and Town Manager David Cox 

Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance 
Chairman Philhower called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Town Hall 2nd Floor Meeting 
Room #201. 

Executive Session 
Strategy and Negotiation Regarding Collective Bargaining 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Goff, to enter Executive Session at 6:00 p.m. 
with Town Manager David Cox, Finance Director Jeff Jylkka and Attorney Nicholas Grello invited 
into the session. Voted (7-0) 

Executive Session ended at 6:12 p.m. 

Adjournment 
A motion was made by Mr. Goff, seconded by Ms. Walck, to adjourn the meeting at 6:12 p.m.  
Voted (7-0) 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Cathy Sirois 
Recording Clerk 
Minutes transcribed from notes taken by Town Manager Cox 

Agenda Item 3a



Town Council Regular Meeting 1 6/13/2023 Minutes 

Town of East Hampton 
Town Council Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, June 13, 2023 
Town Hall Council Chambers and Zoom 

MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Mark Philhower, Vice Chairman Tim Feegel, Council Members Pete Brown, 
Brandon Goff, Eric Peterson, Kevin Reich and Alison Walck and Town Manager David Cox. 

Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance 
Chairman Philhower called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the Town Hall Council Chambers 
and via Zoom. 

Adoption of Agenda 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Reich, to adopt the agenda as submitted. Voted 
(7-0). 

Approval of Minutes 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Reich, to approve the minutes of the Town 
Council Regular Meeting of May 23, 2023 as written. Voted (7-0) 

Public Hearings: 
2023 CT Neighborhood Assistance Act Applications Received from Epoch Arts and Town of 
East Hampton 
The CT Neighborhood Assistance Act is a tax credit program designed to provide funding for 
municipal and tax-exempt organizations by providing a corporation business tax credit for 
businesses who make cash contributions to these entities. 

David Cox, Town Manager, provided an overview of the Town of East Hampton application for 
lighting improvements at Memorial School in the amount of $50,000. 

Omar Namen, Epoch Arts, provided an overview of the Epoch Arts Application for the replacement 
of windows with a more energy efficient model in the amount of $40,000. 

There were no other public remarks. 

A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Reich, to close the Public Hearing.  Voted (7-
0) 

Public Remarks 
Eric Rosenberg, 15 Bay Road and Chairman of the Commission on Aging, appreciates the Board 
of Finance recommending funding for the Ambulance.  He is hopeful the Town Council can find 
funds to change the two Senior Center part time positions to one full time position.  

Presentations 
None 

Agenda Item 3b



 
Town Council Regular Meeting  2 6/13/2023 Minutes  

Bids & Contracts  
None 
 
Resolutions/Ordinances/Policies/Proclamations  
Resolution Regarding Use of American Rescue Plan (ARPA) Funds for the Capital 
Improvement Plan 
The proposed resolution identifies the use of $1,942,100 of ARPA funds for a variety of projects 
and purchases in the community in the Capital Improvement Plan as shown in Exhibit A of the 
resolution.  The resolution and exhibit will be included with the minutes filed in the Town Clerk’s 
Office.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Goff, to adopt the resolution to allocate 
$1,942,100 from the American Rescue Plan Act funds for the FY2024 Capital Improvement Plan. 
Voted (7-0) 
 
Resolution Regarding Use of American Rescue Plan (ARPA) Funds for the Ambulance 
Association 
The proposed resolution is based on a recommendation from the Board of Finance to provide 
$280,000 from ARPA funds to the East Hampton Ambulance Association to offset operational 
expenses related to providing ambulance services in the community. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to adopt the resolution to allocate 
$280,000 from the American Rescue Plan Act funds for the Ambulance Association.  Voted (7-0) 
 
Consideration of a Collection Development Policy and Borrowing Policy for the Public 
Library’s Library of Things 
The Library Advisory Board has recommended policies related to the collection development and 
circulation of non-traditional library materials. Childrens Librarian Christine Cachuela provided an 
overview of the Collection Development and Borrowing Policies for the Library of Things. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Peterson, to approve the Collection 
Development Policy and Borrowing Policy for the Public Library’s Library of Things.  Voted (7-
0) 
 
Continued Business 
Sub-Committee Reports & Updates 
Mr. Reich reported that the Middle School Roof project has gone out to bid.  Once bids are received 
on Friday the Committee will review and make a contractor selection. 
 
The bench for Bevin Park will be ready by Old Home Days.  The concrete pad has been poured. 
 
The tennis court repair is still being worked on.  There will be additional discussion with the Public 
Works Director and the engineer. 
 
FY 2023-2024 General Government & Board of Education Budgets 
Discussion on 2023-2024 General Government & Board of Education Budgets 
The budgets were considered by the Board of Finance at a Special Meeting on June 6. The total 
recommended budget is $53,987,781 which includes $35,858,655 for Education and $18,129,126 
for General Government. 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting  3 6/13/2023 Minutes  

 
Possible Action on 2023-2024 General Government & Board of Education Budgets 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Peterson, to approve the Fiscal Year 2024 
General Government Budget in the amount of $17,995,316 (original figure).  Voted (7-0) 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to approve the Fiscal Year 2024 Board 
of Education budget in the amount of $35,858,655 (Board of Finance figure).  Voted (7-0) 
 
Set Town Meeting and Referendum Dates for the 2023-2024 Budgets 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to direct that a Town Meeting be called 
for Tuesday, June 27, 2023 at 6:15pm in the Town Hall for the purpose of considering the 2023-
2024 General Government and Board of Education budgets and to immediately be adjourned to a 
referendum vote on Tuesday, July 11, 2023 in accordance with Charter Section 4.1. Voted (7-0) 
 
Consideration of the FY 2023-2024 Public Water System Operating Budget & Water Rate 
Recommendation 
Scott Clayton, Public Utilities Administrator, provided an overview of the Water System Operating 
Budget & Water Rates. The budget will be $241,730 which is an increase of 1.60% ($3,806.00) 
over last year, the water billing rates will be $40/EMU and the Commodity Charge will be 
$12.00/1000 gallons, if approved.   
 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Ms. Walck, to approve the water budget and rates 
as presented.  Voted (7-0) 
 
New Business 
Consideration and Action on the 2023 CT Neighborhood Assistance Act Applications from 
Epoch Arts and Town of East Hampton 
A motion was made by Mr. Peterson, seconded by Mr. Goff to approve the 2023 Neighborhood 
Assistance Act applications for Epoch Arts and the Town of East Hampton/Memorial School as 
presented. Voted (7-0) 

 
Consideration and Action on an RFQ for Lake Testing and Reporting 
Parks & Recreation Director Jeremy Hall reviewed the RFQ for the Lake Consultant/Limnologist. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to approve the RFQ for the Lake 
Consultant/Limnologist.  Voted (7-0) 

 
Consideration and Action Regarding Police Department Policies/General Orders 

1) General Order 10.4 - Communications 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to approve Police Department General 
Order 10.4 Communications.  Voted (7-0) 
 
Consideration and Possible Action on Setting Temporary Mill Rate for personal 
Property/Real Estate 
Since the Town’s budgets have not yet been adopted, the Council needs to set a temporary mill rate. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Ms. Walck, to establish a temporary mill rate of 
34.66 until a final budget is approved.  Voted (7-0) 



Town Council Regular Meeting 4 6/13/2023 Minutes 

Town Manager Report 
Mr. Cox provided his written report for the Council members which will be included with the 
minutes filed in the Town Clerk’s Office.  

Appointments 
None 

Tax Refunds 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Goff, to approve tax refunds in the amount of 
$1,911.28. Voted (7-0). 

Public Remarks 
Sal Nucifora, Colchester Avenue and Board of Education member, commented on the insurance 
savings in the education budget and commended the Board of Finance and Town Council on a 
tough budget year. 

Donald Scranton, Ambulance Chief, thanked the Town Council for supporting the Ambulance 
Association. 

Communications, Correspondence & Announcements  
May 2023 Board and Commission Summary 
The Council members received the May 2023 Board and Commission Summary. 

CT Siting Council – Battery Energy Storage Project, 44 Skinner Street 
The Council received a letter regarding a battery energy storage project proposed at 44 Skinner 
Street.  The letter will be included with the minutes filed in the Town Clerk’s Office. 

Adjournment  
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Goff, to adjourn the meeting at 7:07pm. Voted 
(7-0). 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Cathy Sirois 
Recording Clerk 



Ordinance No. 2023.04 
Page 1 of 2 

Town of East Hampton 

Middlesex County, Connecticut 

DRAFT – June 22, 2023 

Ordinance No. 2023.04 

An Ordinance Amending Article V of Chapter 278 of the Code of the Town of 
East Hampton Regarding Stipend for Volunteer Fire and Ambulance 

Personnel and Civil Preparedness Director 

WHEREAS, the Code of the Town of East Hampton provides for the payment of a stipend to 
certain active volunteer members of the East Hampton Volunteer Fire Department and the East 
Hampton Volunteer Ambulance Association as well as the Town’s Civil Preparedness Director, 
and; 

WHEREAS, said stipend is intended to recognize the benefits provided to the Town of East 
Hampton by the individuals who volunteer their time in service to their community even though 
they may receive other small monetary payments as incentive or thanks, which payments are far 
below the pay that would be received for a paid professional acting in the same capacity with the 
same skills, and;  

WHEREAS, the Town Council desires to update the Code related to this stipend to address 
changes to the staffing models for provision of these services and to continue to recognize 
volunteer effort on behalf of and in service to the community. 

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to Section 2.4 of the Town of East Hampton Charter, the Town 
Council of the Town of East Hampton does hereby ordain as follows: 

Section 1: Section 275-14 of the Code of the Town of East Hampton regarding Eligibility is 
hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced to read as follows: 

§ 278-14 Eligibility.

Members of the East Hampton Volunteer Fire Department, the East Hampton Ambulance 
Association and the Civil Preparedness Director shall be eligible for the stipend as 
granted in §278-13 provided the member meets all of the following conditions. 

A. The member has met for the year for which said stipend will be paid the requirements
to be deemed an active volunteer of their respective organizations as outlined in
approved bylaws.

B. The total of any compensation or monetary incentive the member received from their
respective organization is below the pay and remuneration thresholds established by
the Fair Labor Standards Act to be classified as a volunteer.

C. The member is not a per-diem or other similar type of employee.

Agenda Item 7b



Ordinance No. 2023.04 
Page 2 of 2 

Section 2: This ordinance is effective immediately upon its adoption and publication in 
accordance with Connecticut Statutes. 

Approved this ____ day of _____________, 2023. 

TOWN COUNCIL 

___________________________________ 

Mark A. Philhower, Chairperson 

ATTEST 

_________________________________ 

Kelly Bilodeau, Town Clerk



��������������	
 ���������������������������������������������� ��������!�"����#��	���������������$���	������������%���#���

&��������#����'()#����������!���'*+���,--�'��. ���

!)�/�01)�/�0�)�

2345�36�789:�;8<=:35>�?22@AB9C8D>�E8BF@�G>�HIHJ�&�������.-)���K�����!���#����)����������������������� ��������!�"����#��	���������������$���	������������%���#���/!�������"L��&����������#���MN��N�((��OP��)�Q�)��)��RS�����������������������L�.N��N�(���"L�P��)�Q�)��(��)(�0T��.-N��)�	������)�&�������#�������������������#�+�����������&��"�����������$���������&����������������������"L��&������#��������$�#������&�����U��$��������������������"����#�����������������$���	������������%���#���)T��.-N��)���������+������S�������)�&����������������������&���"L����&���V�������������������������$���������������+&�������������#����"����#�����$�����
������&����$���	������������%���#������������������������K#����W���M(�"���������������#�"�����K��)T��.-N�X)����+�"����L)
��"��������&������������������������� ����%������������&���������������!�"����#��!���#������������&����$���	������������%���#�����&����"�����+�"���&��������+��&���������+�#������������������������+&��������"��������"��#�����������#��$������##�����#����&��&��"L��������&������������������������� ����%�����������!���#���'����#�����'�	���+���&�!������#&��)YZ[7C\:3B]9�̂3:_̀�2@_�aDb849�36�:@_�789:�;8<=:35�c3bA5:__B�d\B_�e_=8B:<_5:�8B_�35�6\b_�\5�:@_�2345�366\F_9f����������!�"����#��!���#����������"�������"��������������&������������������"�������������������"��������������������!���#����������������&��������������!�"����#��!���#�������"L���������#&��)Yg[7C\:3B]9�̂3:_̀�2@_�789:�;8<=:35�h<aAb85F_�h993F\8:\35�aDb849�8B_�35�6\b_�\5�:@_�2345�366\F_9f������������$���	������������%���#������������������"L�����������+�����������������"����������������+����"L��&������
���+��)T��.-N�M)��������#�����)!������L�������"�������&����������&����������i����j�����L���#&�L������&���&��������&������������������������� ����%���������������&��!�����������$��P���#������&���������������!�"����#��!���#��������&������"��������&�� ����#��%���#�����������������"��������&������+���V�������&���������+�"������������������T�gklmZn)�&���������&����#��������������������������������#&����"���&��������+�"��)��&������
���+����&�������$�����&�� ����#��%���#�����"L�j�����L��������#&�L�������&�&�����������������������&��������������$���	������������%���#���)T��.-N�')�Oo����$��RT��.-N�.)�o����������"������)!����"���&��&������$�����������������(�L������&������#&����&���+�����MM���������������X�����&��#�����L������������������+��O��������K#�����"L���&L��#���R��&����"���������������������������������������T�gklmZp�������+����&���&��#��������������������������������������������������L�����&��������������������)��&���&��������&������������������������� ����%���������������&��!�����������$��P���#�������&���������������!�"����#��!���#��������&������"��������&� ����#��%���#�����#��#�������L���&��&���������q������������T�gklmZr�����&�������#���������������&������������������������������������"��������&������+���V�������&��������+�"��������&���"������)T��.-N�-)�!����#�"����LS�����#��$������)�&�������#����&����"�������������#�"���j��L�����(�(�������&����"������#��$�������L����������"��#�����)



A GUIDE FOR FIRE CHIEFS AND 
COMMUNITY LEADERS

MANAGING VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS 
FOR FLSA COMPLIANCE: 



1www.iafc.org

Letter from the IAFC

Dear Colleagues:

For nearly two decades, fire chiefs have been confused by differing interpretations of the Fair Labor Standards Act 
(FLSA). To bring order to this issue, the IAFC sought for and gained from the Department of Labor (DOL) a series 
of letter rulings to clearly define the requirements that individuals must meet to qualify as a volunteer firefighter 
under FLSA regulations.  

The IAFC has published this brochure as a guide for fire chiefs and community leaders to better manage volunteer 
firefighters for FLSA compliance. The IAFC believes this will be helpful for the leaders of America’s fire service.

Sincerely,

Chief James B. Harmes

President (2006-2007)

Copyright 2006©, International Association of Fire Chiefs and Wiley Rein & Fielding LLP.  All rights reserved.  
No part of this publication may be produced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, 

electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the copyright owners.



2 3Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Letter from the VCOS
For 10 years, the Volunteer and Combination Officers Section (VCOS) has been actively involved with our parent 
organization, the International Association of Fire Chiefs, in working with the U.S. Department of Labor to clear up 
a number of issues that have caused the American volunteer fire service concern. Over that time, a genuine need 
surfaced to obtain administrative changes and clarifications to the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) of 1938 at the 
federal level because of conflicting regional and local interpretations and how these provisions affected the use 
of volunteers in local fire departments. Often, local administrators and legal counsel decided to allow or not allow 
certain groups of individuals to volunteer based upon community opinion or restrictive actions, constantly mindful 
of potential litigation.

The FLSA situations were complicated with the introduction of pay per call, stipends and other forms of reimburse-
ment to individual volunteer firefighters. It became clear that the definition of “volunteer firefighter” 20 years ago 
is not the same as it is today.  Times have changed, the demand on the volunteer has changed and—in a way—the 
definition of the new “volunteer firefighter” has changed as well.

The changes outlined in this document will allow you to better manage your departments and will improve your 
ability to provide quality service to your communities. With these changes comes the responsibility for fire chiefs 
to ensure that their departments are FLSA-compliant and are accurately accounting for volunteer reimbursement 
within the 20-percent bright line.

During the last 10 years, our board and legislative members handled many concerns about local volunteer restric-
tions and their impact on community fire protection. A number of those situations were emotionally difficult for 
the individuals forced to resign as volunteers because of the conflicting interpretations. For those individuals, this 
information could not come fast enough. I hope this effort will allow you to return as a viable and productive com-
munity volunteer.

This decade of hard work by VCOS and the IAFC is an example of the VCOS commitment to improving the national 
atmosphere for volunteers through federal legislation, interpretation and initiatives; educational opportunities for 
fire department managers who lead volunteer organizations; enhanced educational requirements for volunteers; 
and a renewed emphasis on the safety and survival of those who dedicate themselves to the well-being of others. 
We understand that local community protection depends on the experience, expertise and tenure of your emer-
gency providers and know these changes will enhance your efforts to retain quality volunteers.

Chief Tim Wall, Chairman
Volunteer and Combination Officers Section (VCOS) of the
International Association of Fire Chiefs

Chief Gary Scott
Campbell County Fire Department
gscott@ccfire.us / ccfire@vcn.com 
877.253.1084 - Fire Station 1
307.680.0460 - cell phone

Letter from the Author

MANAGING VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS FOR FLSA COMPLIANCE:  
A GUIDE FOR FIRE CHIEFS AND COMMUNITY LEADERS

By Garen E. Dodge, Esq. and Maria L. Mullarkey, Esq. 

Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: A Guide for Fire Chiefs and Community Leaders is a joint  
publication of the International Association of Fire Chiefs (IAFC), and its Volunteer Chief Officers Section, and the 
law firm of Wiley Rein & Fielding LLP.  

The International Association of Fire Chiefs, organized in 1873, is dedicated to the advancement of the fire service.  
The IAFC’s mission statement is:

To provide career and volunteer chiefs, chief fire officers and managers of emergency service organizations 
throughout the international community with information, education, services and representation to en-
hance their professionalism and capabilities to protect citizens from the devastation of fire, environmental, 
natural and man-made emergencies.

This analysis is designed to provide accurate and authoritative information regarding compliance issues under the 
FLSA that are of concern to IAFC’s members.  It is distributed with the understanding that neither the authors, nor 
IAFC, is engaged in rendering legal or other professional advice, and that the topics discussed herein are subject 
to legislative, judicial, or regulatory change.  If legal advice is required based on particularized facts, IAFC members 
should seek guidance from their jurisdiction or fire department’s attorney.  If you have any suggestions or com-
ments regarding this analysis, please contact:

Garen E. Dodge, Esq.
Wiley Rein & Fielding LLP
1776 K Street, NW
Washington, DC 20006
Phone:  (202) 719-7388
gdodge@wrf.com

1 Copyright 2006©, International Association of Fire Chiefs and Wiley Rein & Fielding LLP.  All rights reserved.  No part of this publication may be produced, 
stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior 
written permission of the copyright owners.



5www.iafc.org

MANAGING VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS FOR FLSA  
COMPLIANCE: A GUIDE FOR FIRE CHIEFS AND  

COMMUNITY LEADERS

TAbLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1. THE FLSA VOLUNTEER EXEMPTION ........................................................................................... 7

CHAPTER 2. PAYMENTS TO VOLUNTEERS........................................................................................................8

CHAPTER 3. DO VOLUNTEER SERVICES CONSTITUTE THE “SAME TYPE OF SERVICES”? ................. 12

CHAPTER 4. DO TWO ENTITIES CONSTITUTE THE “SAME PUBLIC AGENCY”? ..................................... 13

CHAPTER 5. USE OF PAID LEAVE AND COMPENSATORY LEAVE..............................................................14

CHAPTER 6. PAYMENT OF WAGES BY SEPARATE AGENCY ....................................................................... 15

CHAPTER 7. SPECIAL DETAIL EXCEPTION......................................................................................................16

CHAPTER 8. WORKING WITH THE UNION TO ENSURE GOOD RELATIONS ............................................ 17

CHAPTER 9. TAXATION OF PAYMENTS AND BENEFITS ..............................................................................18

CHAPTER 10. CHECKLIST FOR MANAGING VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS ................................................. 19

CHAPTER 11. CONCLUSION ..................................................................................................................................20

CHAPTER 12. SOURCES OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ............................................................................. 21



6 7Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

INTRODUCTION
Recognizing the value of public volunteer efforts, Congress sought to define the requirements that an individual 
must meet to qualify as a bona fide volunteer in the 1985 amendments to the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).  
Although Congress desired to promote volunteerism, it also incorporated safeguards to help prevent abuse of FLSA 
minimum wage and overtime requirements.  Specifically, Section 3(e)(4)(A) of the FLSA provides that an individual 
cannot “volunteer” during off-hours to perform the same services he or she performs during regular employment 
for the same public agency.  

The International Association of Fire Chiefs (IAFC) recognized - over a decade ago - that there was confusion 
across the land about the application of the FLSA rules as they apply to volunteer firefighters.  Chief fire officers 
have struggled with the FLSA since the law’s application to public agencies in 1985, and some of the main points of 
contention have been in the area of volunteerism.  The FLSA proved difficult to apply to the realities faced by public 
safety employers who use volunteer firefighters and law enforcement personnel to deliver services to their com-
munities.  

Fire departments have been given conflicting interpretations from different Department of Labor (DOL) adminis-
trators and field offices when applying the FLSA standards to volunteers.  To make matters worse, fire chiefs often 
sought advice from their city or county attorney only to find that the advice was so conservative and risk averse as 
to make it difficult or impossible to retain the number of volunteers needed for service to that community.   Simply 
put, because they did not wish to trigger a costly lawsuit over murky and inconsistent rules, many city and county 
attorneys said “no, chief, you can’t do that.”

To address this issue, we pleaded our case to Congress.  In 1998, a subcommittee in the House of Representatives’ 
Labor Committee held a hearing to air the problems that existed with the Department of Labor rules and regula-
tions that implement the FLSA regarding volunteer firefighters.  After the hearing, the subcommittee, working 
closely with the IAFC, sought clarification on numerous interpretations dealing with issues such as the use of paid 
and compensatory leave, the “two-hatter” issue, and when fees or other payments to volunteers qualify as a “nomi-
nal fee.”  This latter nominal fee question took considerable time to answer.  What amount of fees can a jurisdiction 
provide a volunteer firefighter without endangering his or her volunteer status?  

After three years of reviewing this specific question, DOL has just released a bright line test that states: generally 
an amount not exceeding 20 percent of the total compensation that the employer would pay to employ a full-time 
firefighter would be deemed a “nominal fee,” and therefore would not endanger the firefighter’s volunteer status. 
Although DOL did not clarify whether fire departments must use the compensation for a specified level of fire-
fighter (for example, entry level or senior) when calculating fees based on the 20 percent rule, DOL stated that fire 
departments should make a good faith determination based on their own payroll information.   

Needless to say, we are extremely pleased – first that we finally got the ruling we requested and that it is favorable 
for the volunteer fire service.  To ensure that all fire chiefs who manage volunteer firefighters will be aware of these 
(and other) DOL rulings, the IAFC, working with the Volunteer and Combination Chief Officers Section (VCOS), pub-
lished this manual for fire chiefs and community leaders that explain the new rulings in the context of managing a 
fire department.  In an effort to ease some of the confusion in applying the FLSA volunteer exemption, this manual 
summarizes applicable DOL guidance on FLSA requirements for volunteer firefighters.  

CHAPTER 1.

THE FLSA VOLUNTEER EXEMPTION

Under the FLSA, public employers are obligated to pay employees at least the minimum wage and overtime com-
pensation.  The FLSA, however, exempts public employers from paying minimum wage and overtime to individu-
als who qualify as “volunteers” motivated to contribute services for civic, charitable or humanitarian reasons.  An 
individual who performs services for a public agency qualifies as a volunteer, if:

• the individual receives no compensation or is paid expenses, reasonable benefits,  
or a nominal fee to perform the services for which the individual volunteered; and

• such services are not the same type of services which the individual is employed to perform for  
the same public agency. 2 

If an individual meets the above criteria for volunteer status, he or she will not be considered an employee covered 
by FLSA minimum wage and overtime provisions, and the public employer is not obligated to compensate the indi-
vidual for hours of volunteer services performed.

A bona fide volunteer may perform, without compensation:

• Different work for the same agency

• Same or similar work for a separate and independent agency

• Different work for a separate and independent agency
 

2 29 U.S.C. § 203(e)(4)(A) (2006).



8 9Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

CHAPTER 2.

PAYMENTS TO VOLUNTEERS
In accordance with DOL regulations, public employers may pay volunteers expenses, reasonable benefits, a nominal 
fee, or any combination thereof, without jeopardizing their volunteer status.3   Public employers must be careful, how-
ever, to not exceed these permissible payments to volunteers.  If payments to volunteers rise to the level of “com-
pensation” for services rendered, the individual will no longer qualify as a bona fide volunteer, but will be deemed an 
employee for purposes of FLSA minimum wage and overtime liability.  Ultimately, DOL will evaluate “the total amount 
of payments made (expenses, benefits, fees) in the context of the economic realities of the particular situation” to 
determine whether the individual loses volunteer status by virtue of payments made by the public agency. 4  

EXPENSES
Public employers can reimburse volunteers for approximate, out-of-pocket expenses incurred by volunteers inci-
dental to providing services for the public agency,5  which include the following:

• Meals

• Transportation

• Uniforms and Related Equipment 

• Tuition and Other Costs Involved in Attending Classes Related to Volunteer Services

• Books, Supplies or Other Materials for Training 

REASONABLE BENEFITS
A public employer does not risk the status of volunteers by providing reasonable benefits to  
volunteers,6  including:

• Liability Insurance

• Health Insurance

• Life Insurance

• Disability Insurance

• Workers’ Compensation 

• Pension Plans

• Length of Service Awards

• Personal Property Tax Relief 7

NOMINAL FEE
Although public employers can pay a nominal fee to volunteers, the fee must not be a substitute for wages and 
must not be tied to productivity. 8  Public employers who compensate volunteers with more than a nominal fee likely 
will create an employment relationship, thereby destroying the volunteer status of the individuals.  DOL has indicat-
ed that fire departments may consider the following factors when providing nominal fees to bona fide volunteers:

• Distance traveled

• Time and effort expended

• Whether the volunteer has agreed to be available around-the-clock or only during certain  

specified time periods

• Whether the volunteer provides services as needed or throughout the year 9

In addition, DOL provided the following additional guidance in various opinion letters:

•	Per	Call	Basis	– Although generally the amount of a nominal fee may not be tied to productivity and may 

not vary based on time spent on the activity, DOL’s regulations specify that the payment of a nominal 

amount on a per-call basis to volunteer firefighters is acceptable.  In its most recent letter, DOL noted that 

“compensation ‘per call’ or other similar bases may be acceptable so long as they may fairly be characterized 

as tied to the volunteer’s sacrifice rather than productivity-based compensation.”10 

•	Monthly	or	Annual	Stipend	– DOL has stated that the payment of a nominal monthly or annual stipend to 

an individual who volunteers on a year-round basis is allowed.11   

•	Hourly	Rate	– DOL has determined that payment to volunteer firefighters on a per hour basis destroys 

bona fide volunteer status and creates an employment relationship.  This type of payment is akin to hourly 

wages based on productivity. 12    

THE 20 PERCENT RULE
In the August 7, 2006 opinion letter, DOL finally provided definitive clarification as to what amounts will qualify as a 
nominal fee.  IAFC sought this opinion letter to elicit a bright-line test to assist fire departments in defining the line 
between what constitutes a nominal fee to volunteers and what amounts to compensation. 

In its November 10, 2005 opinion letter, DOL stated that a public school employee could receive a nominal fee to 
volunteer as a coach or advisor for extracurricular activities so long as the fee does not exceed 20 percent of what 
the public school would otherwise pay to hire a full-time coach or advisor.13    

Extending application of the 20 percent rule to volunteer firefighters, in the August 7, 2006 opinion letter, DOL 
explained that “generally, an amount not exceeding 20 percent of the total compensation that the employer 
would pay to a full-time firefighter for performing comparable services would be deemed nominal.”14   Further, 
DOL indicated that – so long as the fee is 20 percent or less of total compensation for comparable services – DOL 
will be less likely to focus on whether the fee is paid on an annual, monthly or daily basis.

Fire departments can apply the 20 percent rule to evaluate whether a fee paid to a volunteer firefighters is a nomi-
nal amount based on market information, including:

• Compensation paid to a full-time firefighter on the fire department’s payroll

• Information from neighboring jurisdictions, the state or the nation  

(including data from DOL’s Bureau of Labor Statistics, www.bls.gov)

DOL did not clarify whether fire departments must use the compensation for a specified level of firefighter (for 
example, entry level or advanced) when calculating fees based on the 20 percent rule.  DOL explained that the 
information necessary to make this calculation generally is within the knowledge and control of fire departments, 
and thus, the actual determination should be made by fire departments in good faith based on “[a]ny full-time 
firefighter a particular fire department has on its payroll.”  Although DOL’s guidance on this issue is unclear, it is 
possible that fire departments may vary the level of the firefighter used as the benchmark for the 20 percent rule 
to correspond to the level of the volunteer firefighter receiving the fee.  For example, a fire department may use 



10 11Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

the salary paid to a full-time beginner firefighter as a benchmark to determine whether a fee paid to a volunteer 
firefighter for his first year of service is nominal.  

Under the 20 percent rule, for example, if a volunteer firefighter staffs four shifts during a month, a nominal fee should 
not exceed 20 percent of what it would cost to employ a full-time firefighter to staff the equivalent of four shifts. 

EXAMPLES:
A county fire department pays $50,000 to hire a full-time firefighter for one year.  The fire department 
pays an annual stipend of $9,500 to a volunteer firefighter to perform the same services.  This payment 
would constitute a nominal fee under the 20 percent rule.

A county fire department pays $50,000 to hire a full-time firefighter for one year.  The fire department 
pays an annual stipend of $15,000 and life insurance to a volunteer firefighter to perform the same 
services.  This payment would not constitute a nominal fee under the 20 percent rule.

Responding to a series of hypotheticals posed by IAFC, DOL found that the following payments may qualify  
as nominal fees:

*  Although DOL found that a $15,000 annual payment may qualify as nominal under the 20 percent rule, DOL also 
observed that “it is unlikely that 3,000 hours of service (50+ hours per week) is ‘volunteering’ rather than employ-
ment.” 15  If a volunteer is compensated annually for a comparable, high level of hours, DOL likely will determine that 
a full-time employment relationship exists.  

* * DOL reminded public employers that a nominal fee must not vary depending on the productivity of the volun-
teer or the amount of time spent on volunteer activities.  Although it did not definitively answer whether a fire 
department can increase the yearly, monthly or per shift payment to volunteers for every year the volunteer staffs 
a requisite number of shifts, DOL noted that this may constitute impermissible “compensation via a seniority or 
productivity system based on services rendered.” 16

Fire departments should use the 20 percent rule to determine if a payment to volunteer firefighters constitutes a 
nominal fee.  Remember that the 20 percent rule does not apply to expenses and reasonable benefits.  Even if a 
payment constitutes a nominal fee under the 20 percent rule, however, this payment must be considered in totality 
with other expenses or benefits received by volunteer firefighters to determine if the entire amount of payments 
precludes volunteer status under the “economic realities” test.  

EXAMPLE:  
A volunteer firefighter receives an annual stipend of $8,000, reimbursement for the cost of transportation, uni-
forms and training, and payments by the fire department for health and life insurance.  The fire department should 
determine whether the $8,000 stipend exceeds 20 percent of what it would cost to employ a full-time firefighter to 
perform the same services.  The fire department does not have to evaluate whether the reimbursement of expens-
es or provision of insurance benefits are 20 percent of the amount of expenses and insurance received by full-time 
firefighters performing similar services.  

CONCLUSION: TOTAL PAYMENTS
Step 1:  Evaluate whether each specific payment to volunteers qualify as either (1) expenses;  
(2) reasonable benefit; or (2) a nominal fee. 

Step 2:  The nominal fee cannot exceed the total compensation paid to a full-time firefighter  
for performing comparable services.

Step 3:  Analyze the entire package of payments made to volunteers “in the context of the economic 
realities of the particular situation” to determine whether furnishing these payments results in loss of 
volunteer status.

 

CHAPTER 2. continued

 3 29 C.F.R. § 553.104(a) (2006)., 4 Id. at § 553.106(f)., 5  Id. at § 553.106(b)-(c)., 6  Id. at § 553.106(d)., 7  DOL has found that provision of personal property tax relief 
in the amount of $1,500 annually during the term of volunteer service constitutes a permissible reasonable benefit.  DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion 
Letter (Aug. 7, 2006).,8  29 C.F.R. § 553.106(e) (2006)., 9  Id., 10  DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Aug. 7, 2006)., 11  Id., 12  DOL, Wage and Hour Division 
Opinion Letter (July 7, 1999)., 13 DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Nov. 10, 2005)., 14 DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Aug. 7, 2006).,
 15  Id., 16  Id.

AMOUNT OF PAYMENT REQUIREMENTS ADDITIONAL  
PAYMENTS

AVERAGE WORKED 
(MINIMUM)

1)  $1,200 per year
Regardless of number of  
shifts or amount of time spent  
responding to calls

n/a
24 shifts and/or 60 
hours responding to  
calls per year

2)  $100 per month
Regardless of number of  
shifts or amount of time spent  
responding to calls

n/a
4 shifts and/or 8  
hours responding to  
calls per month

3)  $100 per month Minimum of 2 shifts and/or  
5 hours responding to calls

$25 for each additional  
shift over 4 and/or  
each additional 2.5 hours 
responding to calls  
over 12 hours

n/a

4)  $25 per 4-hour  
block of time

Regardless of the amount of  
time spent at the station house  
or responding to calls

n/a n/a

5)  $20 per shift
Regardless of the length of  
shift or amount of time spent  
responding to calls

n/a
6 hour shift and/or 2 
hours responding to  
calls per shift

6)  $25 Minimum of 8 hours per shift  
and/or 2.5 hours responding to calls

$15 per shift that exceeds  
8 hours and/or 5 or more 
hours responding to calls

n/a

7)  $15,000 annual fee n/a n/a
3,000 hours waiting  
and responding to  
calls per year*

8)  $20 per shift
Regardless of the length of  
shift or amount of time spent 
responding to calls

Fee increases by $1 per  
shift for each year with a  
minimum of 12 shifts**

n/a



12 13Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

CHAPTER 3.

DO VOLUNTEER SERVICES CONSTITUTE THE “SAME TYPE OF SERVICES”?
The FLSA “does not permit an individual to perform hours of volunteer service for a public agency when such hours 
involve the same type of services which the individual is employed to perform for the same public agency.”17   DOL 
regulations define “same type of services” as “similar or identical services.”18   Whether volunteer services constitute 
the same type of services is determined on a case-by-case basis, considering:

• The occupational classification of the employee’s paid position in comparison to his or her volunteer posi-

tion in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles or on DOL’s O*NET system, www.doleta.gov/Programs/onet/.

• Whether the volunteer services are closely related to the actual duties performed by and responsibilities as-

signed to the employee during regular employment19 

CROSS-TRAINED FIREFIGHTER/EMT
In its most recent opinion letter, DOL did not provide a definitive answer in response to whether a firefighter 
cross-trained and licensed as an EMT/Paramedic can qualify as a bona fide volunteer EMT/Paramedic for the same 
agency.20   In an August 19, 1999 opinion letter, however, DOL concluded that a city firefighter cannot volunteer as a 
firefighter/EMS provider for the same city.21    

FIREFIGHTER/POLICE
In its most recent opinion letter, DOL confirmed that police and firefighters perform a different type of service, 
and thus, a police officer employed by a county police department can also volunteer as a firefighter for the same 
county’s fire and rescue department.22   In a statement favorable to the chiefs, DOL indicated that “merely respond-
ing to the same emergencies, such as traffic accidents and fire calls, or acting as a medical first responder on occa-
sion will typically not change the inherent differences in the two occupations.” 23

FIRE MARSHALL/FIREFIGHTER
DOL concluded that a full-time paid Fire Marshall cannot be a volunteer firefighter with the city because the vol-
unteer service is the “same type of service” for which he is paid by the same employer and is closely related to the 
actual duties of the Fire Marshall. 24

MECHANIC/FIREFIGHTER
DOL determined that “serving as a mechanic and serving as a firefighter do not involve the same type of services, 
absent evidence to the contrary,” and thus, an individual employed as mechanic could serve as a volunteer firefight-
er for the same agency. 25

DETENTION DEPUTY/LAW ENFORCEMENT DEPUTY
DOL decided that employees of a county sheriff’s office in the detention department could not volunteer off-duty 
in the law enforcement department because the work involves the “same type of services.”26 

CIVILIAN COMMUNICATIONS SPECIALIST/FIREFIGHTER
DOL concluded that an individual employed as a civilian communications specialist with a city fire and rescue 
department may volunteer as a firefighter for the same agency.  DOL stated that employees who engage in civilian 
support activities, such as dispatchers, alarm operators, apparatus and equipment repair and maintenance workers, 
clerks and stenographers, do not perform the same type of services as firefighters.27   

CHAPTER 4.

DO TWO ENTITIES CONSTITUTE THE “SAME PUbLIC AGENCY”?

An individual who is a paid employee of a public agency cannot also be an unpaid volunteer for the same agency 
while performing the same type of services that he is employed to perform.  DOL determines whether two entities 
constitute the “same public agency” on a case-by-case basis by examining whether the two entities:28  

• Have separate payroll and retirement systems

• Have the authority to sue and be sued in their own name

• Have separate hiring and other employment practices

• Are treated separately under State law

• Are treated separately by the Census Bureau

• Have separate budget and funding authorities

• Have independent authority to make employment decisions

• Have authority to hire and compensate personnel

• Have limited integration and day-to-day control of operations over each other

SEPARATE PUBLIC AGENCY
If analysis of these factors indicates that the public agencies are separate entities, then an employee of one  
agency can volunteer to provide the same or similar services as performed in their regular employment for  
the separate agency.

SAME PUBLIC AGENCY
If analysis of these factors indicates that the public agencies are not separate entities, then an employee of one 
agency cannot volunteer to provide the same or similar services as performed for in their regular employment for 
the other entity.  Such an arrangement would create a joint employment situation.  

MUTUAL AID AGREEMENTS
DOL regulations state that an agreement between two agencies for mutual aid does not change the otherwise 
volunteer character of services performed by employees of such agencies.29   For example:  An individual employed 
as a paid firefighter with County A may volunteer as a firefighter with County B, where County A and County B have 
a mutual aid agreement (even though the firefighter may be called upon to respond to a call in County A while 
volunteering with County B).

 

 17 29 C.F.R. § 553.102(a) (2006)., 18 Id. at § 553.103(a)., 19 Id., 20 DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Aug. 7, 2006)., 21  DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion 
Letter (Aug. 19, 1999). 22  DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Aug. 7, 2006)., 23  Id., 24  DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Sept. 3, 1999)., 25  
DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Apr. 14, 2003).  See Chapter 5 for discussion on leave and overtime issues for other governmental employees., 26  
DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Oct. 29, 2004)., 27 DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Jul. 7, 1999).

28  29 C.F.R. § 553.102(b) (2006).,   29 Id. at § 553.105.



14 15Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

CHAPTER 5.

USE OF PAID LEAVE AND COMPENSATORY LEAVE
IF A Bona Fide VOLUNTEER FOR A SEPARATE AGENCY
If the employee is a bona fide volunteer for a separate public agency, the employing agency may provide paid personal 
leave or dock the employee’s compensatory time during volunteer calls without jeopardizing the individual’s volunteer 
status with the separate agency.30   Further, the volunteer hours worked for the separate agency would not be com-
pensable time worked for the employer and, thus, would not be counted by the employer when computing overtime.   

For example, if a firefighter in County A is required to use paid personal leave or accrued compensatory time for his 
volunteer work as a firefighter with City B, a separate agency, his status as a bona fide volunteer with City B is not 
jeopardized.  Further, the volunteer hours worked for City B would not be compensable time worked for County A.

A bona fide volunteer firefighter can also be paid wages by his “non firefighter” employer while serving as a volun-
teer firefighter for a separate public agency during normal work hours, as long as such pay does not come from the 
separate public agency receiving the volunteer services.  If the employer pays wages for time volunteered during 
normal work hours, however, the volunteer hours would be compensable hours that must be counted by the em-
ployer for purposes of computing overtime.  

IF A BOnA FiDe VOLUNTEER FOR THE SAME AGENCY
If an employee is a bona fide volunteer for the same agency, the employee may substitute paid personal leave 
earned—which the employee may use as he sees fit—for time spent performing volunteer activities without jeop-
ardizing his status as a bona fide volunteer.31   Further, the time spent outside the employee’s regular work day 
performing volunteer services would not be compensable time worked for the employer and would not be counted 
when computing overtime. 32    

For example, if a mechanic employed by County A fire department uses paid personal leave for his volunteer work 
as a firefighter with County A fire department, his status as a bona fide volunteer firefighter is not jeopardized.  The 
time spent by the mechanic on volunteer fire calls outside the regular work day would not be compensable time 
worked for County A.  

An employee who volunteers different services for the same public agency cannot be paid wages by the agency 
for the volunteer services, however, as this will prevent the employee from qualifying as a bona fide volunteer.  For 
example, if County A pays a full-time mechanic wages for hours worked as a firefighter for the same county, the 
county employs the individual as both a full-time mechanic and a part-time firefighter.  Therefore, the individual 
would not be allowed to volunteer additional hours as a firefighter because of FLSA’s prohibition on volunteering 
for the same agency to perform the same type of services he is employed to perform.  

IF NOT A BOnA FiDe VOLUNTEER 
If the employee is not a bona fide volunteer because he is performing the same type of services for the same public 
agency, the hours spent performing the same services for which he is employed are not “time off,” but instead are 
compensable and should be counted when computing overtime. 33  In such case, the public employer may not dock 
the employee’s compensatory time to cover the wages due.

 

CHAPTER 6.

PAYMENT OF WAGES bY SEPARATE AGENCY
DOL indicated that a public employer can pay wages to an employee for volunteer hours with a separate agency.34   
For example, if a firefighter in County A is allowed to cease his usual duties during the workday to respond as a 
volunteer firefighter to City B’s call, the firefighter can be paid for his normal work hours by County A without losing 
his volunteer status with City B.  As explained in Chapter 5, the employee’s use of paid personal leave or accrued 
compensatory time does not transform the volunteer hours into compensable time.  If the public employer pays 
wages for time volunteered during normal work hours, however, the volunteer hours are considered compensable 
hours for that employer that must be counted for purposes of overtime compensation.35   Time spent volunteering 
outside regular work hours is not compensable time.  

30  DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Aug. 7, 2006); DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Apr. 14, 2003)., 31  DOL, Wage and Hour Division 
Opinion Letter (Aug. 7, 2006)., 32  DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Apr. 14, 2003)., 33  Id.

34  DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Aug. 7, 2006); DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Apr. 14, 2003)., 35  Id.



16 17Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

CHAPTER 7.

SPECIAL DETAIL EXCEPTION  
Although not applicable to volunteers, the “special detail” exception applies to public fire protection and law en-
forcement employees who, at their own option, work special detail for a separate and independent employer per-
forming related duties.  If a public employee voluntarily agrees to work special detail “by a separate or independent 
employer in fire protection, law enforcement, or related activities,” the public agency can exclude these hours when 
calculating hours worked for purposes of overtime compensation. 36  

In an April 28, 2006 opinion letter, DOL responded to an inquiry by a city regarding its law enforcement officers who 
perform off-duty security detail at a municipal coliseum for a third-party.  DOL concluded that because the public 
employees perform the off-duty work at their own option and because the city and third-party contractors are 
separate employers, the off-duty work hours should not be counted for the city’s overtime obligation, and the fact 
that the city pays workers’ compensation for the third-party work does not alter this conclusion. 37  

DOL considers similar factors to determine whether the employers are separate and independent as applied to 
determine whether a volunteer provides services for the same agency, including whether the agencies operate a 
separate payroll system, maintain a separate retirement system, have a separate budget and have the authority to 
sue and be sued in their own name.  

 

CHAPTER 8.

WORKING WITH THE UNION TO ENSURE GOOD RELATIONS 
If a union is present, it is important to:

m Review your state/local laws on volunteers if any 

m Check the union contract to see if volunteers are covered

m Meet with union representative to discuss the use of volunteers

m Make sure volunteers are not provided more than 20% provided to career firefighters 

m If a new approach is needed, see if union contract can be reopened on the issue of volunteers

m If contract cannot be reopened, propose changes when contract expires  

 

 36 29 C.F.R. § 553.227 (2006)., 37  DOL, Wage and Hour Division Opinion Letter (Apr. 28, 2006).



18 19Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

CHAPTER 9.

TAXATION OF PAYMENTS AND bENEFITS
Fire departments may have questions about the taxation of payments made to volunteer firefighters that are not 
addressed in the FLSA guidance, for example, whether compensation paid to volunteers is subject to FICA (Social 
Security and Medicare) withholding.  The attached tax supplement provides a discussion of FICA taxation of volun-
teer firefighters and tax treatment of amounts applied to dependent care and medical accounts.  Comprehensive 
treatment of tax issues are beyond the scope of this analysis.  If you have tax questions, it is important to seek out 
the advice of qualified tax counsel.    

 

CHAPTER 10.

CHECKLIST FOR MANAGING VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS

As a reminder:

q Does the collective bargaining agreement have restrictions on career firefighters from  

volunteering during off-duty hours?

q Does the volunteer firefighter perform the same type of services for another agency?

q Does the volunteer firefighter perform work for the same public agency?

q Does the volunteer firefighter receive any payments?

m Does the payment qualify as expenses?

m Does the payment qualify as a reasonable benefit?

m Does the payment qualify as a nominal fee?  Is it 20 percent or less of what a  

full-time firefighter would be paid to perform comparable services?

 



20 21Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

CHAPTER 11.

CONCLUSION

q Volunteer firefighters must not be paid compensation, but can be paid expenses, reasonable  

benefits and a nominal fee that does not exceed 20 percent of what it would cost to otherwise  

provide the volunteer services rendered. 

q Paid firefighters cannot volunteer the same services for the same public agency for which  

they are employed.  

q Paid firefighters can volunteer the same services for a separate and independent public agency.

q Paid firefighters can be paid by their employer for personal time off or docked compensatory  

time for volunteer hours worked for a separate and independent public agency without  

jeopardizing volunteer status with the separate agency.  The employer should not count  

these hours as compensable time.   

q Paid firefighters can be paid wages for by their employer for volunteer hours worked during  

the regular workday for a separate and independent public agency without jeopardizing  

volunteer status with the separate agency.  The employer should count these hours  

as compensable time.  

 

CHAPTER 12.

SOURCES OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
We hope this brochure is a helpful resource for managing volunteer firefighters in compliance with  
FLSA standards.  If further questions arise as you assess your volunteer programs, the following resources  
may be of help to you. 

Department of Labor Web Site.  The Department of Labor’s home page is located at:  http://www.dol.gov.   
This web site includes a link to DOL’s guidance information on the Fair Labor Standards Act, including the  
text of the statute and regulations.  

Department of Labor Wage and Hour Opinion Letters.  The Department of Labor’s Wage and Hour opinion  
letters responding to FLSA issues can be accessed at: http://www.dol.gov/esa/whd/opinion/opinion.htm.  

Employment & Labor Legal Counsel.  If you are unsure of how the FLSA volunteer standards apply in your  
particular situation, you may want to contact legal counsel to assist in ensuring that your volunteer program  
meets the legal requirements discussed in this brochure.  If you would like assistance, please contact  
Garen E. Dodge, Esq. at (202) 719-7388 or gdodge@wrf.com. 



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

22 23



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

24 25



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

26 27



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

28 29



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

30 31



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

32 33



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

34 35



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

36 37



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

38 39



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

40 41



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

42 43



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

44 45



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

46 47



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

48 49



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

50 51



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

52 53



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

54 55



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

56 57



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

58 59



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

60 61



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

62 63



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

64 65



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

66 67



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

68 69



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders www.iafc.org

Appendix

70 71



Managing Volunteer Firefighters for FLSA Compliance: a Guide for Fire Chiefs and Commnity Leaders72

Notes

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________



International Association of Fire Chiefs
Volunteer and Combination Officers Section

4025 Fair Ridge Drive, Suite 300 
Fairfax, VA 22033

703/273-0911

www.iafc.org



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission 

1 

In the enclosed document, revisions to the ordinance are marked as follows: 

• Underline – new wording added
• Strikeout – wording removed

Table 1 - List of Proposed Revisions to Chapter 278, Article IX. Business Incentive Program 

Section Section Title Proposed Revision 
§ 278-32 Purpose Add comma in Section D 
§ 278-33 Program implementation by Town No change 
§ 278-34 Duties of Economic Development 

Commission 
Section A: Rename program the “ETAP” (East 
Hampton Tax Abatement Program). Added 
“construction”. 

§ 278-35 General Requirements Section B: Reword “scoring” to “evaluation”. 
§ 278-36 Application procedure Created Sections A, B, & C.  

Section A. Added “ETAP” (East Hampton Tax 
Abatement Program). Added annual EDC 
application form evaluation process. 
Section B. Added EDC process. 
Section C. Revise reference to new §278-45. 
Expanded process steps for clarification. 

§ 278-37 Assessment of property subject to 
agreement 

No change 

§ 278-38 Application scoring guidelines Reword “scoring” to “evaluation”. Added annual 
EDC evaluation criteria process. 

§ 278-39 Evaluation criteria categories Reword “scoring” to “evaluation”. Revised to 
include a list of application evaluation criteria. 

§ 278-40 Tax incentive tiers and 
implementation 

Rename section to “Tax abatement tiers and 
implementation”.  
Section A: Remove scoring points.  
Section B: Remove cap on tax abatement 
incentives.  
Section F: Remove construction commencement 
requirement.  
Section G: (New) Addition of Town Manager 
responsibilities for management of ETAP. 

§ 278-41 Default by owner or lessee; recapture 
of abated taxes 

No change 

§ 278-42 Recapture terms No change 
§ 278-43 Assignment of agreement No change 
§ 278-44 Amendments to applicable statutes No change 
§ 278-44.1 Proposed agreement Renamed to § 278-45 

Add verbiage to refer to East Hampton Tax 
Abatement Program (“ETAP”). 
Revise Section 2 to remote construction 
commencement requirement. 
Remove Section 3. 

Agenda Item 7c



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

2 

Chapter 278. Taxation 

Article IX. Business Incentive Program 

§ 278-32. Purpose. 
 
The purpose of the Business Incentive Program is, in accord with the Town’s Plan of Conservation 
and Development (POCD), to attract new businesses to the Town, promote the expansion of 
existing businesses (including home-based businesses relocating into commercial, industrial, and 
design development zones), and to encourage the rehabilitation and reuse of vacant commercial 
and industrial buildings. It is the intent of the Town:  
 

A. to assist in the creation of jobs for local residents;  

B. to create long-term tax base growth through the appropriate replacement, reconstruction, 

expansion or remodeling of existing business facilities;  

C. to encourage the construction of new commercial and industrial facilities in accord with 

the Future Land Use Plan found in the Town’s POCD; and  

D. to encourage substantial investment in new machinery, equipment, and other personal 

property subject to taxation within the Town. 

§ 278-33. Program implementation by Town. 
 
Subject to Connecticut General Statutes (CGS) Sec. 12-65b and Sec. 12-65h the Town of East 
Hampton (the Town) shall, by affirmative vote of its legislative body, enter into a written 
agreement with any party owning or proposing to acquire an interest in real property, or an 
interest in real property upon which is located or proposed to be located: Office use; retail use; 
manufacturing use; warehouse, storage or distribution use; structured multilevel parking use 
necessary in connection with a mass transit system; information technology; recreation facilities;  
transportation facilities; or mixed-use development as defined in subdivision (72) of CGS Sec. 
12-81, fixing the assessment of the real property and all improvements to be constructed thereon 
which is the subject of the agreement in accordance with the provisions of §278-40 of this 
Ordinance.  

§ 278-34. Duties of the Economic Development Commission 
 

A. The East Hampton Economic Development Commission (EDC or “the Commission”) 
shall provide any property owner or lessee with general information concerning the 
Business Incentive Program East Hampton Tax Abatement Program (the “Program” or 
“ETAP”), prepare and supply interested parties with an Application to participate in the 
Program and any other information that may be reasonably requested by an interested 
party. An “interested party” is one who owns or proposes to acquire an interest in real 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

3 

property as defined in CGS Sec. 12-65b and who is considering construction, 
replacement, reconstruction, expansion, or remodeling of existing business facilities 
located or to be located in East Hampton.  

 
B. The EDC may perform research about any party applying to participate in the Program 

and may request of any such party any relevant information that in the opinion of the 
EDC bears upon consideration of the application. The EDC shall obtain from the Tax 
Assessor an evaluation of the impact of any proposed abatement of taxes on the 
applicable Grand List and an estimate of the impact on future Grand Lists. 

§ 278-35. General Requirements 
 

A. Applications properly filed with the Town will be considered for the Program, provided: 
 

a. Applicant must possess a good environmental practices history and be able to 
demonstrate adequate financial strength to finance the proposed capital 
improvements and expansions to the real property and machinery and equipment 
purchases that would be the subject of the agreement. 

b. The proposed use is located in an appropriate zone as defined by East Hampton’s 
Zoning Regulations. 

c. The proposed use receives approvals, licenses, and permits of the East Hampton 
Planning and Zoning Commission and of other East Hampton, State of 
Connecticut and federal agencies, boards, commissions, and officials having 
jurisdiction with respect to the project, as required. 

d. No real estate property tax or other tax or fee or municipal charge due East 
Hampton by the Applicant, the businesses, or any other business organization or 
entity owned or controlled by the Applicant is unpaid at the time the Application 
is submitted or at any time thereafter.  

e. If the Applicant is relocating its business to East Hampton, the applicant should 
provide a five-year history of tax assessments and payments to the municipality or 
municipalities and/or other political subdivisions in which its business was 
operated. 

f. The project must have a clear economic benefit to East Hampton, as described by 
the Applicant on the application. 

 
B. Notwithstanding the results of any scoring evaluation under §278-39, if the project does 

not constitute a net benefit to the Town – economically, civically, or in quality of life – 
the Economic Development Commission may decline to refer the application to the 
Council for consideration.  

§ 278-36. Application procedure. 
 

A. Submission 
 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

4 

a. All tax incentive abatement requests shall be made in writing on a form referred to 
as Business Incentive Program ETAP Application (“the Application”) published 
and provided by the EDC and approved by the Town Council (“Council”).  

b. The application and all accompanying documentation shall be submitted in 
duplicate at to the Office of the Clerk.  

c. Upon receipt by the Clerk, one copy of the Application and materials shall be 
provided to the EDC for preliminary review.  

d. and The Clerk should provide notice to the Council that an Application has been 
submitted. “Receipt by the Clerk” means signifies that an ETAP Application 
(including required signatures from listed public officials) and all accompanying 
documentation required in accordance with all applicable provisions of this 
Ordinance is has been submitted. 

 
The ETAP application form shall be evaluated annually by the Economic Development 
Commission to ensure consistency with the POCD and this ordinance. 

 
B. Application Evaluation by EDC 

 
The EDC will evaluate all ETAP Application submissions according to the guidelines in this 
ordinance. 
 
The EDC shall strive for expediency in processing and evaluating the ETAP Application 
submission. The EDC may request to meet with the Applicant or appropriate delegate. The Town 
Council may request an accelerated evaluation process of a specific ETAP Application if the 
situation warrants. 
 
The EDC shall prepare an ETAP Application Evaluation in response to the ETAP Application 
submission. When completed, the EDC shall notify the Town Council that the ETAP Application 
Evaluation is ready to be brought before the Council for consideration. This shall occur only if 
the EDC has approved the application. The EDC is the authority for non-acceptance of a 
business into the ETAP. 
 
The following timeframes for action are not mandatory, but the EDC and the Council should 
strive to meet them: From date of receipt by the Clerk of the Application the EDC shall have 45 
days to review the Application, request additional information and meet with the Applicant 
and/or the Applicant’s representative. Provided the Applicant has submitted all of the 
information required in by the Application, by the Ordinance, and by the EDC, the EDC will 
within 30 days thereafter report its findings to the Council.  
 

C. Application Evaluation by Town Council 
 
The Council will place the report ETAP Application Evaluation on the agenda of the next 
regularly scheduled available Council meeting for discussion and action. The EDC will present 
the ETAP Application Evaluation at the scheduled Council meeting.  
 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

5 

If the Council approves the EDC’s recommendation for acceptance of a business into the ETAP, 
the Town Manager and the Applicant shall enter into a written agreement (consistent with the 
proposed agreement in §278.44-1 §278.45).  

§ 278-37. Assessment of property subject to agreement. 
 
The East Hampton Assessor shall, in the Assessor’s sole discretion, determine the assessment of 
the real property or the personal property and any and all improvements constructed or to be 
constructed on or in the real property which is the subject of the agreement. 

§ 278-38. Application scoring evaluation guidelines. 
 
The purpose of this ordinance is to encourage economic growth in the Town that is in accord 
with the POCD in effect at the time of the given application. The POCD reflects the strongest 
expression of the Town’s intentions for its future development, character, and quality of life. 
Accordingly, there is room for flexibility in evaluation of an application scoring under criteria 
listed in §278-39 of this Ordinance.  
 
Evaluation criteria defined in §278-39 shall be evaluated annually by the Economic 
Development Commission to ensure consistency with the POCD and this ordinance. 
 
When scoring evaluating a new application for approval for the ETAP program, the members of 
the EDC should strive for consistency and transparency. Like applications should receive like 
treatment. It is appropriate – even essential – for the EDC to consult the scoring of previously 
granted applications when scoring a new application. Consistency between like applications must 
be balanced, however, with the goals of the POCD in effect at the time. Where no similar 
application has been submitted, care should be taken to score the new application relative to the 
goals of the POCD and relative to the merits of any previous application. 
 
Only the EDC shall approve or deny an application for consideration by the Council. and its The 
decision of the EDC is not appealable. When approving or denying an application, the EDC 
should issue a written statement showing the scoring evaluation and explaining its reasoning. 
Projects recommended to the Council must evince a clear net benefit to the Town. It is 
recognized that evaluation of an application under this ordinance requires a blend of quantitative 
and qualitative reasoning; the Commission shall strive to make that its reasoning and 
methodology plain and clear. 

§ 278-39. Scoring Evaluation criteria categories. 
 
ETAP Application Evaluation criteria shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

• Good Standing with the Town 
• Location 
• Use/Business Purpose 
• Brownfield Revitalization 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

6 

• Vacant Property 
• Blighted Property 
• Jobs Created 
• Cost of Town Services 
• Design Compliance 
• Sustainability 
• Investment Amount 

 

§ 278-40. Tax abatement incentive tiers and implementation. 
 

A. Depending upon the number of points an Application receives, it may be denied or, 
subject to a vote by the Council, provided with one of tiers of tax abatement as follows: 
 

 Points   Benefit 
 Fewer than 24  Denied 

25-44 points: Third tier benefit:  70% of fixed assessment abated for two years, or 
50% of fixed assessment abated for four years. 

45-69 points: Second tier benefit:  70% of fixed assessment abated for three years, 
or 50% of fixed assessment abated for five years. 

More than 70 points: Highest benefit:  100% of fixed assessment abated for years 1-3, 
70% of fixed assessment abated for years 4-5, 50% of fixed 
assessment abated for year 6.  

 
 

Evaluation of Economic Benefit Basic ETAP Benefit 

Minimal Economic Benefit to the Town No tax abatement benefit 

Low Economic Benefit to the Town 
Year 1-2: 70% of fixed assessment abated; 
OR 
Year 1-5: 50% of fixed assessment abated 

Average Economic Benefit to the Town 
Year 1-3: 70% of fixed assessment abated; 
OR 
Year 1-5: 50% of fixed assessment abated 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

7 

High Economic Benefit to the Town 
Year 1-3: 100% of fixed assessment abated 
Year 4-5: 70% of fixed assessment abated 
Year 6: 50% of fixed assessment abated 

 
 
 

B. The Town may abate real estate property taxes based on increased real property tax 
assessments up to but not more than the percentages shown above. 

 
C. The fixed assessment period shall commence the first fiscal year for which a tax list is 

prepared on the October 1immediately following the issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy by the appropriate building official for construction of the buildings or 
manufacturing facilities or other structures and all improvements in or on the real 
property which is the subject of the agreement. Notwithstanding anything written in this 
Ordinance, the Town may, in its sole discretion, offer to enter into an agreement with the 
Applicant for the abatement of taxes of a lesser percentage and/or fewer years. 
 

D. On a case by case basis, the Town may provide other incentives in addition to the 
incentives provided by CGS Sec. 12-65b and Sec. 12-65h or in lieu thereof as follows: 
(1) waiver of building permit fees; (2) waiver of filing fees with land use agencies; or, (3) 
provision of in-kind services such as construction of access roads, or road widening, 
construction of storm drains and culverts, sidewalks, or curbing, extension of water 
and/or sewer lines or other public improvements. 

 
E. Machinery and equipment defined in subdivision (72) of CGS Sec. 12-81 and intended to 

qualify for tax relief pursuant to Sec. 12-65h shall have for federal income tax purposes a 
depreciable useful life of five or seven years. 

 
F. Construction shall commence within six months of, and not prior to, approval by the 

Town and shall be completed no later than 24 months from the date of approval by the 
Town. Company shall obtain a Certificate of Occupancy not later than twenty-four (24) 
months from the date of the signed ETAP Form of Agreement. The times for 
commencement and completion of the construction are mandatory except Applicant’s 
performance relative to acquisition of the Certificate of Occupancy may be excused when 
the Applicant is prevented from performing by causes beyond the Applicant’s control, 
including natural disasters or other calamities or a local, state or national declared state of 
emergency. Application must be made within one year of receiving building permits. 

 
G. The Town Manager shall provide annual written updates in January to the Council and 

the EDC on entities the Town has agreements with under the Business Incentive Program 
that are presently in effect or ended within the last year. The annual updates should 
include, but need not be limited to: 

 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

8 

1. A recap of the number of years and percentage of fixed assessment abated that the Town 
and entity are under agreement for 

2. When the fixed assessment abated started and when the tax abatement will, or did, cease 
under the agreement for the entity 

3. Any additional incentives provided by the Town to an entity as listed under §278-40. 
4. Any notable achievements, recognitions or contributions that constitute a net benefit to 

the Town – economically, civically, or in quality of life 
5. If any benchmarks or requirements established by the agreement or under §278-35, §278-

40, and §278-41 have failed to be met. If yes, the annual update will include what 
benchmarks or requirements were failed to be met. Also, what subsequent actions were 
taken by the Town regarding an applicant defaulting on the agreement or requirements of 
the ordinance 

§ 278-41. Default by owner or lessee; recapture of abated taxes. 
 

A. Abatement of taxes under this ordinance constitutes a municipal subsidy to the successful 
applicant. In the event that the Applicant fails to meet negotiated benchmarks or other 
requirements as described herein, they shall, by the terms of the Agreement, be required 
to repay all abated amounts, consistent with CGS 12-146as of the date of default. 

 
B. In addition to the specific timing benchmarks noted in §278-40, the Town is encouraged to 

establish relevant benchmarks to be met by a successful Applicant related to the nature of 
the business or the project. At a minimum they must include the following triggers. 
 

1) In the event the owner or lessee of the real property: 
 

a. At any time fails pay real estate and/or personal property taxes when due and 
payable; 

b. Fails to commence or complete on time the construction of all improvements upon 
the property which is the subject of the agreement; 

c. Within 10 years of the date of the Agreement applicant becomes insolvent or 
bankrupt or files any debtor proceedings or others file such debtor proceedings 
against the owner or lessee, in any court, in any jurisdiction, state or federal, and 
does not withdraw such filing within 90 days or such other proceedings have not 
been dismissed or withdrawn by such other parties within 90 days or makes an 
assignment for the benefit of creditors or if the property or lease is taken under and 
writ of execution or becomes the subject of foreclosure proceedings; 

d. Abandons at any time the real property or in the case of the lessee purports to assign 
its lease without the express consent of the Town as set forth in §278-42 of this 
Ordinance; or, 

e. Fails to perform any obligation of owner or lessee or attain any benchmark set under 
the terms of the agreement such event shall constitute a material default of the 
agreement and the Town may terminate the agreement on the giving of written 
notice whereupon:  
 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

9 

o the right of the owner and/or lessee under the terms of the agreement shall cease 
and come to an end; and 

 
o the property owner and/or lessee shall be obligated to repay the Town the amounts 

of all tax abatements retroactive to the due date of the first abated tax payment plus 
interest at the rate set and payable pursuant to provisions of CGS Sec. 12-146, all 
waived fees, if any, and all actual costs to the Town in providing in-kind 
considerations to the property owner and/or the lessee.  

 
2) In the event of failure to pay a tax when due and if such delinquency continues for six 

months and one day, the Town shall terminate the agreement whereupon (i) the right of the 
owner and/or lessee to receive the tax abatement and any other considerations granted 
under the terms of the agreement shall by terminated; and (ii) the property owner and/or 
lessee shall be obligated to repay the Town the amounts of all tax abatements retroactive 
to the due date of the first abated tax payment plus interest at the rate set and payable 
pursuant to provisions of CGS Sec. 12-146, all waived fees, if any, and all actual costs to 
the Town in providing in-kind considerations to the property owner and/or the lessee. 

§ 278-42. Recapture terms. 
 
It is of no benefit to East Hampton to drive an Applicant in default into further economic straits 
by virtue of an onerous repayment plan. Terms for the recapture of abated taxes as described in 
§278-42 should be calculated to ensure the recapture of the highest possible percentage of public 
funds, taking into account the fiscal reality of the Applicant, the circumstances of the default, and 
the state of the project.  

§ 278-43. Assignment of agreement. 
 
The agreement between the town and the Applicant shall not be assigned by the Applicant to any 
person(s) or business organization or entity or estate or trust without the express consent of both 
the Council and the EDC which shall signify their consents by an affirmative vote taken at a 
separate meeting of each body duly noticed for the stated purpose. A conveyance of real property 
or a transfer of ownership of the business or substantially all of the assets of the business which is 
the subject of the agreement to a person or business organization or entity that is not owned or 
controlled by the Applicant, shall not constitute a valid assignment of the agreement or vest any 
rights under the agreement in the grantee of the real property or transferee of the business or of the 
assets of the business or allow for enforcement of any obligations of the Town against the Town 
by the grantee or transferee including but not limited to any remaining tax abatements under the 
terms of the agreement. A “controlled entity” means a business which is eighty or more percent 
owned by the grantor or transferor. 

§ 278-44. Amendments to applicable statutes. 
 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

10 

All references in this Ordinance to CGS Sec. 12-65b or Sec. 12-65h or Sec. 12-81 or any other 
section of CGS made herein shall include all amendments to such statutes enacted and signed into 
law subsequent to the effective date of this ordinance. 
 

§ 278-45. Proposed agreement. 
 

FORM OF AGREEMENT 
 

TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 
AGREEMENT REGARDING REAL 

PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT 
______________________________ 
EAST HAMPTON, CONNECTICUT 

 
 
 This Agreement is entered into this ___ day of _______________ by and between the 
TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON, a municipal corporation and body politic having its corporate 
limits located within the County of Middlesex and State of Connecticut (hereinafter the “Town”), 
and _______________________________ of East Hampton, Connecticut (“Company”) a 
Connecticut corporation with a principal place of business at ____________________________, 
East Hampton, Connecticut. 
WITNESSETH: 
  

WHEREAS, Company is responsible to pay all real property taxes associated with the real 
property known as ___________________________________ East Hampton, Connecticut (“the 
Real Property”); and 
  

WHEREAS, Company intends to make improvements to the land and structures on the 
Real Property, including the construction of approximately ___________square foot commercial 
office building and associated site improvements located on the Real Property (the “Facility”); and 
  

WHEREAS, the estimated costs to be invested by Company in making the above-described 
improvements to and constructing the Facility on the Real Property will be a minimum of 
$___________________; and 
  

WHEREAS, the Town, acting by and through its duly authorized Tax Assessor, will assess 
and value the Real Property and personal property on the Grand List of October 1, 2018.  
____________ (Date). 
  

WHEREAS, the Town wishes to assist Company in its plans to add real property and 
personal property value to the Town’s tax base; and  
  

WHEREAS, the Town wishes to assist Company to develop its ____________________ 
plans to be submitted and approved to the Planning and Zoning Commission; and 
  



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

11 

WHEREAS, in consideration of the above, the Town is willing to provide tax relief to 
Company pursuant to the East Hampton Business Incentive Program Ordinance as a Tier ____ tax 
abatement for a period of ___________  years commencing with the first date that tax payments 
are due under the Grand List following the date of issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy for the 
Facility (the “Abatement Term”); and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the parties hereby covenant and 
agree that: 
 
1. Cost of Improvements:  The costs for the improvements shall equal or exceed 
$_______________________ in construction costs.  Company will install and properly account to 
the Town for all taxable personal property assets added to or installed in the Facility. 
 
2. Certificate of Occupancy:  Company will commence construction within six (6) months, 
and not prior, to this Agreement and complete construction and shall obtain a Certificate of 
Occupancy not later than twenty-four (24) months from the date of this Agreement. Company shall 
actively operate or cause said Facility to operate as __________________at the Real Property for 
not less than the Abatement Term from the date of the Certificate of Occupancy.  
 
3. Employment:  Company shall use its best efforts to employ or cause to be employed at 
least ___ full-time and ____ part-time employees at said Facility throughout the Abatement Term. 
 
4. Reduction of Assessment:  Commencing with the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, 
the Real Property tax assessment shall be established on the Grand List for the period following 
the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, and the Town shall grant to Company a ___% 
reduction in its Real Property assessment such that the net effect of the reduced assessment reduces 
the tax liability for the Real Property in the amount of $______________ over the ___________ 
year period according to a schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A, including the above-described 
Improvements and the construction of the Facility (the “Abatement”). 
 
5. Abatement Period:  The Abatement Term shall be for a period of ___________ years 
commencing with the first date that tax payments are due under the Grand List following the date 
of issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the Facility; provided, however, that if such 
assessment is changed by any future Town revaluation, the tax payments due under the new 
assessed value of the Real Property shall be adjusted for the remainder of the Abatement Term in 
accordance with the terms of the Abatement set forth in Paragraph 4 above. 
 
6. Tax Payment:  Company shall maintain all tax obligations owed by it to the Town current 
and in good standing during the Abatement Term. 
 
7. Certification of Value of Site Improvements:  Company shall be required to provide proof 
via affidavit of an appropriate officer within one year after the commencement of operations at the 
Facility as to a) the actual value of the site improvements and that said improvements are 
substantially in conformance with the provisions hereof as to the scope of construction; b) the cost 
of construction (a minimum of $________.00) and c) the number and type (full-time or part-time) 
of employees employed at such Facility. 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

12 

 
8. Ongoing Employment Obligations:  Notwithstanding anything herein contained to the 
contrary, Company and the Town acknowledge and agree that, while Company shall make every 
good faith effort to maintain and employ at least ____ full-time and ____ part-time employees 
during the Operating Term, economic circumstances, financial considerations, and employee 
transience may make it impossible to maintain precisely the level of employment described herein.  
Accordingly, Company and the Town acknowledge that variations in the numbers of employees 
will occur and may continue for unspecified periods of time during the Operating Term of this 
Agreement.  Company will, upon request, disclose to Town its employment statistics no more than 
once per year.  Subject to the above requirement of good faith and Company’s cooperation in 
disclosing all efforts made to comply with the employment parameters stated herein, such 
variations shall not otherwise constitute a default of this Agreement provided the Facility is 
operating in accordance with applicable law and Company is in compliance with the terms of this 
Agreement in all other respects. 
 
9. Default:  The following events shall constitute and event of default: Company at any time 
fails pay real estate and/or personal property taxes when due and payable, or; Company fails to 
commence or complete on time the construction of all improvements upon the property which is 
the subject of the agreement, or; Company, within 10 years of the date of the Agreement, becomes 
insolvent or bankrupt or files any debtor proceedings or others file such debtor proceedings against 
the owner or lessee in any court, in any jurisdiction, state or federal, and does not withdraw such 
filing within 90 days, or such other proceedings have not been dismissed or withdrawn by such 
other parties within 90 days, or; Company makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or; 
Company property or lease is taken under a writ of execution or becomes the subject of foreclosure 
proceedings, or;  Company abandons at any time the real property or in the case of the lessee 
purports to assign its lease without the express consent of the Town as set forth in this Ordinance, 
or; Company fails to perform any obligation of owner or lessee or attain any benchmark set under 
the terms of this Agreement.  In such event of default, the Town shall provide notice to the 
Company of such event of default, and the Company shall have thirty (30) days from such notice 
within which to cure such default.  In the event Company fails to cure the default with thirty (30) 
days of such notice, then this Agreement shall be null and void and the Company shall reimburse 
the Town for all tax relief provided to Company, retroactive to the due date of the first abated tax 
payment plus interest at the rate set and payable pursuant to the provisions of Conn. Gen. Stat. 
§12-146, or other applicable statute, plus all prior waived fees, if any, plus all actual costs to the 
Town in providing in-kind considerations to the Company, and the Town shall be under no 
obligation to grant further tax relief hereunder. 
 
10. Legal Action to Enforce the Terms:  In the event that the Town must resort to legal action 
to enforce the terms of this Agreement, any amount determined by a Court of competent 
jurisdiction to be due from Company shall be subject to interest at the rate of eighteen percent 
(18%) per annum.  Such interest shall accrue from the postmark date for the notice of default 
described in Paragraph 9.  In addition, the Town shall be entitled to recover from Company all 
costs of collection, including reasonable attorney’s fees, incurred in enforcing this Agreement. 
 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

13 

11. No Further Abatement:  Company acknowledges and agrees that the Abatement offered 
pursuant to this Agreement is not binding upon the Town, and shall not continue, beyond the 
________ year Abatement Term agreed to herein.  
 
12. No Admission as to Values:  Company and the Town acknowledge and agree that the 
values placed upon the Real Property, the Facility, and/or the Improvements as a result of the 
Abatement shall not now or at any other time be construed as an admission by any party or as 
evidence of any kind as to the true fair market value of the Real Property, the Facility, and/or the 
Improvements. 
 
13. Notices:  All notices hereunder are to be sent by the Town to Company at the following 
address or to such other address as requested by the Company or its successors or assigns:  
________________________________________, East Hampton, CT 06424 
Attention:________________.  All such notices shall be sent via certified mail, return receipt 
requested, or overnight mail service.  Notices are deemed effective upon delivery.  Any refusal to 
accept such delivery shall still constitute the delivery of proper notice. 
 
14. Assignment:  Company may not assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations under 
this Agreement without the prior written authorization of the Town Council and Economic 
Development Commission which shall signify their consents by an affirmative vote taken at a 
separate meeting of each body duly noticed for the stated purpose.  A conveyance of the Real 
Property or a transfer of ownership of the Company business or substantially all of the assets of 
the Company to a person or business organization or entity that is not a “controlled entity” which 
is owned or controlled by the Company, shall not constitute a valid assignment of the Agreement 
or vest any rights under the Agreement in the grantee of the Real Property or transferee of the 
Company or the assets of the Company or allow for enforcement of any obligations of the Town 
against the Town by the grantee or transferee including but not limited to any remaining tax 
abatements under the terms of the Agreement.  A “controlled entity” means a business which is 
eighty or more percent owned by the Company as grantor or transferor. 
 
15. Release of Liability:  Company and/or its successors or assigns releases the Town and its 
agents, servants and employees from any and all liability, of whatever nature, legal or equitable, 
which may have arisen or which may arise in connection with this Agreement, including the 
implementation hereof. 
 
16. Indemnification:  Company and/or its successors or assigns shall defend and indemnify the 
Town and any of its agents, servants and employees against any action, claim or suit of any nature 
whatsoever, arising from the Town’s being a party to this Agreement and/or any undertaking of 
its obligations hereunder. 
 
17. Execution:  This Agreement has been executed by the parties’ respective agents, duly 
authorized and acting in his or her official capacity. 
 
18. Amendment:  This Agreement may be amended only by mutual consent of the parties, and 
any amendments to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be duly executed and dated by the 
respective parties. 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

14 

 
19. Complete Agreement:  This Agreement represents the entire and complete understanding 
and agreement of the parties, and any and all prior written or oral agreements not otherwise 
contained in this Agreement shall be and are hereby null and void and of no force or effect. 
 
20. Choice of Law and Venue:  In the event that litigation or other dispute resolution process 
arises, all litigation and dispute resolution shall take place in the State of Connecticut, Judicial 
District of Middlesex, and the Agreement shall be construed in accordance with Connecticut law, 
without regard to its conflict of law provisions. 
 
21. Notice of Tax Abatement:  Upon the execution of this Agreement, a copy of this Agreement 
or a proper “Notice of Tax Abatement Agreement” shall be filed upon the land records of the Town 
with respect to the Real Property. 
 
22. Special Conditions:  In addition to all other terms and conditions of this Agreement, the 
Town’s obligations under this Agreement are conditioned on the following (“the Conditions”): 
  (a)  Project Financing:  Company demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the 
East Hampton Finance Director that it has private financing and state and federal grants in place 
in an amount sufficient to undertake and complete the project; 
 
  (b)  Property Maintenance:  Company demonstrates that it has maintenance 
contracts in place to keep the property maintained during the period of construction; 
 
  (c)  Non-Transferable:  As set forth in Paragraph 14 herein, Company 
acknowledges and affirms that this tax abatement is non-transferable and any transfer of the tax 
abatement to a non-related entity shall be an event of default; and 
 
  (d) ________ [other specific terms] 
 

In the event that the Company fails to satisfy the Conditions set forth in this Special 
Conditions paragraph, this Agreement shall be null and void and the Real Property as improved 
shall be assessed in accordance with the Connecticut General Statutes without regard to the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement. 
 
 
 
SIGNATURES FOLLOW 
  
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have hereunto set their hands and seals as of the day 
and year first written above. 
 
Witnessed By: Company: 

 
_____________________________________ 

 
By: _________________________________ 



Chapter 278. Taxation 
Article IX. Business Incentive Program 
Proposed Ordinance Revision by Economic Development Commission  

15 

 
_____________________________________ 

Its CEO, Duly Authorized 

Witnessed By: Town of East Hampton: 

 
_____________________________________ 

 
By: _________________________________ 

 
_____________________________________ 

Its Town Manager, Duly Authorized 

      
 



Application for ETAP: East Hampton Tax Abatement Program 

East Hampton Business Tax Abatement Program (“ETAP”) 

Tax abatements based on real property assessments are granted to new and existing business investment 
in the Town of East Hampton, based upon alignment with the Town of East Hampton’s Plan of 
Conservation & Development. Consideration is given, but not limited to, Location; Use/Business 
Purpose; Brownfield Revitalization; Use of a Vacant or Blighted Property; Jobs Created; Cost of Town 
Services; Design Compliance; Sustainability; Amount Invested. 

ETAP Tax Abatement Application Process 

The East Hampton Economic Development Commission will process your application. The East 
Hampton Town Council holds final authority for approval of the tax abatement for your business. 

1. Complete this application.
2. Submit the application to the East Hampton Town Clerk’s office. Your application will be given

to the East Hampton Economic Development Commission (EDC).
3. The EDC will review your application and make a recommendation on tax abatement for your

business to the East Hampton Town Council.
4. After the Town Council approves your application, an agreement to execute the tax abatement

will be signed by the business owner (or delegate) and the Town Manager. This agreement must
also be approved by the Town Council.

Application 

1. Please provide the following information:

Name of Business 

Contact Name 

Contact Phone Number 

Contact Email Address 

Estimated Start & End Dates for 
Construction/Renovation 

Location of Business in East Hampton 

2. Please provide a short description of your business.



Application for ETAP: East Hampton Tax Abatement Program 

3. ETAP Criteria. Please fill out the following table by checking the box next to each criterion that 
applies to your business. 

 
Please check the 
box if it applies 

to your business: 

Tax Incentive 
Criterion Category 

Tax Incentive Criterion 

 Good Standing Are there any unpaid taxes, fees, or municipal charges owed to 
East Hampton by the applicant, the businesses, or any other 
business organization or entity owned or controlled by 
the applicant? 

 Location Your business is in a Commercial, Industrial, or Design 
Development Zone such as the TIF District 

 Location Village Center 
 Location Cobalt Center 
 Use/Business Purpose Your business provides additional adult recreation opportunities 

to the Town 
 Use/Business Purpose Healthcare & medical services 
 Use/Business Purpose Informational Technology services & retail 
 Use/Business Purpose Office use 
 Use/Business Purpose Mixed-use with less than 20% residential 
 Use/Business Purpose Greater than 50% Retail business 
 Use/Business Purpose Dining 
 Use/Business Purpose Industrial, manufacturing, storage, warehouse, or distribution 

business 
 Use/Business Purpose Greater than 50% Service business 
 Use/Business Purpose Increases Tourism to the Town 
 Use/Business Purpose Increases the Beautification of the Town 
 Use/Business Purpose Your business would attract additional businesses to the Town 
 Use/Business Purpose Your business would support growth for existing businesses in 

Town 
 Use/Business Purpose Your business provides services for Senior Citizens in Town 
 Use/Business Purpose Your business provides services for families in Town 
 Use/Business Purpose Your business provides services for youth in Town 
 Use/Business Purpose EDC Discretionary 
 Brownfield 

Revitalization 
Your business commits to remediate and use a Brownfield 
property 

 Vacant Property Your business commits to occupy a building that’s been 
unoccupied for >12 months as of the date of the application 

 Blighted Property Your business commits to occupy a property designated by the 
Town as blighted 

 Jobs Created 1-5 Full Time Equivalent positions 
 Jobs Created 5-10 Full Time Equivalent positions 
 Jobs Created >10 Full Time Equivalent positions 
 Cost of Town Services The town will not accrue any additional cost of services as 

result of your business 



Application for ETAP: East Hampton Tax Abatement Program 

 Design Compliance Design of the building or renovation complies with Town 
regulations 

 Sustainability Business supplies 20% of its own energy requirements 
 Sustainability Business will feed energy back into the grid 
 Sustainability Business meets LEED Gold Standard or equivalent 
 Sustainability Business requires public transportation node 
 Sustainability Business supplies a recharge station for electric vehicles 
 Sustainability Business installs or uses water-saving fixtures 
 Sustainability Business supports a healthy Lake Pocotopaug watershed per 9-

point plan 
 Sustainability Business supports or contributes to the reduction of cost for a 

Town public water system 
 Amount Invested Minimum $3M in construction/renovations 
 Amount Invested Minimum $1M in construction/renovations 
 Amount Invested Min. $800k in construction/renovations 
 Amount Invested Min. $500k in construction/renovations 
 Amount Invested Min. $250k in construction/renovations 
 Amount Invested Min. $100k in construction/renovations 

 
 

4. Is there anything the applicant would like to add to offer additional information to the East 
Hampton Economic Development Commission & Town Council? (Please feel free to include 
attachments; website references; marketing materials; financial viability information; etc.) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
For Town Use Only: 
 
The Town Manager and Planning & Zoning Official attest that the applicant fulfills the requirements & 
conditions for eligibility to be considered for participation in East Hampton’s Tax Abatement Program 
(ETAP), provided by the East Hampton Town Council & Economic Development Commission. 
 
 
X ________________________________________     Date: __________________________ 
East Hampton Town Manager 
 
X ________________________________________     Date: __________________________ 
East Hampton Planning & Zoning Official 



April 2023 Revision - Draft

This form is to be used to conduct basic application scoring for an application to the 
ETAP (East Hampton Tax Abatement Program), as defined in East Hampton Chapter 
278 (Taxation), Article IX. Business Incentive Program.

Upon the discretion of the Economic Development Commission and/or the Town 
Council, additional or revised tax abatement incentives may be awarded to a new 
or existing business investing in the Town.   



Scoring Points Economic Benefit Basic ETAP Benefit

24 points or less Minimal Economic Benefit to the Town No tax abatement benefit

25-44 points Low Economic Benefit to the Town
Year 1-2: 70% of fixed assessment abated; OR
Year 1-5: 50% of fixed assessment abated

45-69 points Average Economic Benefit to the Town
Year 1-3: 70% of fixed assessment abated; OR
Year 1-5: 50% of fixed assessment abated

70 points or more High Economic Benefit to the Town

Year 1-3: 100% of fixed assessment abated
Year 4-5: 70% of fixed assessment abated
Year 6: 50% of fixed assessment abated



Tax Incentive 
Criterion Category Tax Incentive Criterion Applicable 

Award Points
Awarded 

Points Total:

Good Standing

Are there any unpaid taxes, fees, or municipal charges owed to East 
Hampton by the applicant, the businesses, or any other business 
organization or entity owned or controlled by
the applicant?

Min eligibility 
requirement

0

Location Your business is in a Commercial, Industrial, or Design Development 
Zone such as the TIF District

Min eligibility 
requirement

Location Village Center 10
Location Cobalt Center 7

Use/Business Purpose Your business provides additional adult recreation opportunities to the 
Town

5

Use/Business Purpose Healthcare & medical services 3
Use/Business Purpose Informational Technology services & retail 3
Use/Business Purpose Office use 4
Use/Business Purpose Mixed-use with less than 20% residential 5
Use/Business Purpose Greater than 50% Retail business 5
Use/Business Purpose Dining 5
Use/Business Purpose Industrial, manufacturing, storage, warehouse, or distribution business 5
Use/Business Purpose Greater than 50% Service business 3
Use/Business Purpose Increases Tourism to the Town 5
Use/Business Purpose Increases the Beautification of the Town 3
Use/Business Purpose Your business would attract additional businesses to the Town 5
Use/Business Purpose Your business would support growth for existing businesses in Town 4
Use/Business Purpose Your business provides services for Senior Citizens in Town 2
Use/Business Purpose Your business provides services for families in Town 2
Use/Business Purpose EDC Discretionary (up to 5 points) 0
Brownfield Revitalization Your business commits to remediate and use a Brownfield property 10

Vacant Property Your business commits to occupy a building that’s been unoccupied for 
>12 months as of the date of the application

5

Blighted Property Your business commits to occupy a property designated by the Town as 
blighted

5

Jobs Created 1-5 Full Time Equivalent positions 5
Jobs Created 5-10 Full Time Equivalent positions 7
Jobs Created >10 Full Time Equivalent positions 10

Cost of Town Services The town will not accrue any additional cost of services as result of your 
business

5

Design Compliance Design of the building or renovation complies with Town regulations 10
Sustainability Business supplies 20% of its own energy requirements 2
Sustainability Business will feed energy back into the grid 2
Sustainability Business meets LEED Gold Standard or equivalent 2
Sustainability Business requires public transportation node 2
Sustainability Business supplies a recharge station for electric vehicles 2
Sustainability Business installs or uses water-saving fixtures 2

Sustainability Business supports a healthy Lake Pocotopaug watershed per 9-point 
plan

5

Sustainability Business supports or contributes to the reduction of cost for a town 
public water system

7

Amount Invested Minimum $3M in construction/renovations 15
Amount Invested Minimum $1M in construction/renovations 14
Amount Invested Min. $800k in construction/renovations 13
Amount Invested Min. $500k in construction/renovations 12
Amount Invested Min. $250k in construction/renovations 11
Amount Invested Min $100k in construction/renovations 10
Amount Invested Min. $50k in construction/renovations 9
Amount Invested Min. $25k in construction/renovations 8
Amount Invested Min. $10k in construction/renovations 7



2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 1/11

A. 

B. 

C. 

D. 

A. 

Town of East Hampton, CT
Friday, February 18, 2022

Chapter 278. Taxation

Article IX. Business Incentive Program
[Adopted by the Town Council 10-8-2013; amended in its entirety 9-25-2018]

§ 278-32. Purpose.

The purpose of the Business Incentive Program is, in accord with the Town's Plan of Conservation and
Development (POCD), to attract new businesses to the Town, promote the expansion of existing
businesses (including home-based businesses relocating into commercial, industrial, and design
development zones), and to encourage the rehabilitation and reuse of vacant commercial and
industrial buildings. It is the intent of the Town:

To assist in the creation of jobs for local residents;

To create long-term tax base growth through the appropriate replacement, reconstruction,
expansion or remodeling of existing business facilities;

To encourage the construction of new commercial and industrial facilities in accord with the Future
Land Use Plan found in the Town's POCD; and

To encourage substantial investment in new machinery, equipment and other personal property
subject to taxation within the Town.

§ 278-33. Program implementation by Town.

Subject to C.G.S. §§ 12-65b and 12-65h, the Town of East Hampton (the "Town") shall, by affirmative
vote of its legislative body, enter into a written agreement with any party owning or proposing to
acquire an interest in real property, or an interest in real property upon which is located or proposed to
be located: an office use; retail use; manufacturing use; warehouse, storage or distribution use;
structured multilevel parking use necessary in connection with a mass transit system; information
technology; recreation facilities; transportation facilities; or mixed-use development, as defined in
Subdivision (72) of C.G.S. § 12-81, fixing the assessment of the real property and all improvements to
be constructed thereon, which is the subject of the agreement in accordance with the provisions of
§ 278-40 of this article.

§ 278-34. Duties of Economic Development Commission.

The East Hampton Economic Development Commission ("EDC" or the "Commission") shall
provide any property owner or lessee with general information concerning the Business Incentive
Program (the "program") and prepare and supply interested parties with an application to
participate in the program and any other information that may be reasonably requested by an
interested party. An "interested party" is one who owns or proposes to acquire an interest in real
property as defined in C.G.S. § 12-65b and who is considering replacement, reconstruction,
expansion, or remodeling of existing business facilities located or to be located in East Hampton.

https://ecode360.com/print/27844625#27844625
https://ecode360.com/print/27844626#27844626
https://ecode360.com/print/27844627#27844627
https://ecode360.com/print/27844628#27844628
https://ecode360.com/print/27844631#27844631
https://ecode360.com/print/27844689#27844689


2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 2/11

B. 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

A. 

B. 

A. 

B. 

The EDC may perform research about any party applying to participate in the program and may
request of any such party any relevant information that, in the opinion of the EDC, bears upon
consideration of the application. The EDC shall obtain from the Tax Assessor an evaluation of the
impact of any proposed abatement of taxes on the applicable Grand List and an estimate of the
impact on future Grand Lists.

§ 278-35. General requirements.

Applications properly filed with the Town will be considered for the program, provided:

The applicant must possess a good environmental practices history and be able to
demonstrate adequate financial strength to finance the proposed capital improvements and
expansions to the real property and machinery and equipment purchases that would be the
subject of the agreement.

The proposed use is located in an appropriate zone as defined by East Hampton's Zoning
Regulations.

The proposed use receives approvals, licenses, and permits of the East Hampton Planning
and Zoning Commission and of other East Hampton, State of Connecticut and federal
agencies, boards, commissions, and officials having jurisdiction with respect to the project, as
required.

No real estate property tax or other tax or fee or municipal charge due East Hampton by the
applicant, the businesses, or any other business organization or entity owned or controlled by
the applicant is unpaid at the time the application is submitted or at any time thereafter.

If the applicant is relocating its business to East Hampton, the applicant should provide a five-
year history of tax assessments and payments to the municipality or municipalities and/or
other political subdivisions in which its business was operated.

The project must have a clear economic benefit to East Hampton, as described by the
applicant on the application.

Notwithstanding the results of any scoring under § 278-39, if the project does not constitute a net
benefit to the Town - economically, civically, or in quality of life - the Economic Development
Commission may decline to refer the application to the Council for consideration.

§ 278-36. Application procedure.

All tax incentive requests shall be made in writing on a form referred to as the "Business Incentive
Program Application" ("the application"), published and provided by the EDC and approved by the
Town Council ("Council"). The application and all accompanying documentation shall be submitted
in duplicate at the office of the Clerk. Upon receipt by the Clerk, one copy of the application and
materials shall be provided to the EDC for preliminary review, and the Clerk should provide notice
to the Council that an application has been submitted. "Receipt by the Clerk" means an application
and all accompanying documentation required in accordance with all applicable provisions of this
article is submitted.

The following time frames for action are not mandatory, but the EDC and the Council should strive
to meet them: From the date of receipt by the Clerk of the application, the EDC shall have 45 days
to review the application, request additional information and meet with the applicant and/or the
applicant's representative. Provided the applicant has submitted all of the information required in
the application, by this article, and by the EDC, the EDC will, within 30 days thereafter, report its
findings to the Council. The Council will place the report on the agenda of the next regularly
scheduled Council meeting for discussion and action. If the Council approves the report, the Town

https://ecode360.com/print/27844632#27844632
https://ecode360.com/print/27844635#27844635
https://ecode360.com/print/27844636#27844636
https://ecode360.com/print/27844637#27844637
https://ecode360.com/print/27844638#27844638
https://ecode360.com/print/27844639#27844639
https://ecode360.com/print/27844640#27844640
https://ecode360.com/print/27844634#27844634
https://ecode360.com/print/27844641#27844641
https://ecode360.com/print/27844643#27844643
https://ecode360.com/print/27844644#27844644
https://ecode360.com/print/27844652#27844652


2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 3/11

A. 

B. 

C. 

(a) 

(b) 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

A. 

B. 

Manager and the applicant shall enter into a written agreement (consistent with the proposed
agreement in § 278-44.1.)

§ 278-37. Assessment of property subject to agreement.

The East Hampton Assessor shall, in the Assessor's sole discretion, determine the assessment of the
real property or the personal property and any and all improvements constructed or to be constructed
on or in the real property which is the subject of the agreement.

§ 278-38. Application scoring guidelines.

The purpose of this article is to encourage economic growth in the Town that is in accord with the
POCD in effect at the time of the given application. The POCD reflects the strongest expression of
the Town's intentions for its future development, character, and quality of life. Accordingly, there is
room for flexibility in scoring under criteria listed in § 278-39 of this article.

When scoring a new application, the members of the EDC should strive for consistency and
transparency. Like applications should receive like treatment. It is appropriate - even essential - for
the EDC to consult the scoring of previously granted applications when scoring a new application.
Consistency between like applications must be balanced, however, with the goals of the POCD in
effect at the time. Where no similar application has been submitted, care should be taken to score
the new application relative to the goals of the POCD and relative to the merits of any previous
application.

Only the EDC shall approve or deny an application for consideration by the Council, and its
decision is not appealable. When approving or denying an application, the EDC should issue a
written statement showing the scoring and explaining its reasoning. Projects recommended to the
Council must evince a clear net benefit to the Town. It is recognized that evaluation of an
application under this article requires a blend of quantitative and qualitative reasoning; the
Commission shall strive to make that reasoning plain.

§ 278-39. Scoring criteria categories.

Location; corporation; TIF District.

Location. Only projects within those areas zoned "Commercial," "Industrial," or "Design
Development" according to the Zoning Map for the Town of East Hampton (see POCD) are
eligible for consideration under this article. Points under this section may be awarded for
properties located in the following priority areas:

Village Center: Properties located in the Village Center District as defined by the Zoning
Map for the Town of East Hampton are eligible for a maximum of 10 points.

Cobalt Center: Properties located on Route 66 between its junction with Old Depot Hill
Road and its junction with Old Middletown Road are eligible for a maximum of seven
points.

Corporation: any company, firm, business, or concern operating as a single legal entity.

TIF District: as defined by the Town's Tax Increment Financing (TIF) District Plan.

Maximum points: 10

Use. In accord with the needs identified by the POCD and as appropriate to the site and location
in Town, the following uses may qualify for points: transient housing (hotels/motels), rental
housing, workforce housing, light industrial/light manufacturing, health care and medical services,

https://ecode360.com/print/27844647#27844647
https://ecode360.com/print/27844648#27844648
https://ecode360.com/print/27844649#27844649
https://ecode360.com/print/33739907#33739907
https://ecode360.com/print/33739908#33739908
https://ecode360.com/print/27844654#27844654
https://ecode360.com/print/27844655#27844655
https://ecode360.com/print/33739909#33739909
https://ecode360.com/print/27844653#27844653
https://ecode360.com/print/27844656#27844656
https://ecode360.com/print/33739921#33739921
https://ecode360.com/print/27844652#27844652


2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 4/11

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

C. 

D. 

E. 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

F. 

G. 

high-technology businesses, retail, and dining. Projects for these uses may be awarded five
points. At the EDC's discretion, "high-needs" uses under these categories may be awarded up to
10 points.

Maximum points: 10

Brownfields.

East Hampton contains a number of sites designated as "brownfields" by the USEPA.
Brownfields are real property, the expansion, redevelopment, or reuse of which may be
complicated by the presence or potential presence of a hazardous substance, pollutant, or
contaminant. Cleaning up and reinvesting in these properties protects the environment,
reduces blight, and takes development pressures off green spaces and working lands — all of
which are goals of East Hampton's POCD.

Any application that proposes to remediate and commit to reuse a brownfield as designated
by the EPA or the State of Connecticut is eligible for 10 points.

Depending upon the project, financing and other factors, the Town may also seek to partner
with the applicant for federal grant funding or supply other in-kind considerations.

Maximum points: 10

Use of a vacant property. The applicant may be awarded five points if proposing to occupy a
building which has been unoccupied for a period greater than 12 months at the time the applicant
signed a lease or closed on the property. If, in the opinion of the EDC, the property can be
considered "blighted," 10 points may be awarded.

Maximum points: 10

Number of jobs created. Points may be awarded based upon the number of nonseasonal full-time-
equivalent positions (FTEs) the business will generate:

FTEs Points
1-5 5
5-10 7
More than 10 10

Maximum points: 10

Cost of services to the Town.

A project or use proposed by an applicant may require the Town to assume an extraordinary
cost beyond normal maintenance and upkeep. For example: a chemical manufacturer may
require the Town to retrain and potentially re-equip its fire protection services. If the
Commission determines such is the case, no points may be awarded under this category.

If no such cost exists, five points may be awarded.

The Commission may ask the applicant to pay for a fiscal impact analysis, to be conducted by
a consultant approved by the Commission.

The applicant may be given the opportunity to show that the Commission's determination of
the cost to the Town is in error; however, the Commission makes the final determination.

Maximum points: 5

Design of the building or renovation. The Commission may award 10 points when the applicant
can show that the design of the structure is in compliance with current Town Building Design

https://ecode360.com/print/27844658#27844658
https://ecode360.com/print/27844659#27844659
https://ecode360.com/print/33739910#33739910
https://ecode360.com/print/27844657#27844657
https://ecode360.com/print/27844660#27844660
https://ecode360.com/print/27844666#27844666
https://ecode360.com/print/27844668#27844668
https://ecode360.com/print/27844669#27844669
https://ecode360.com/print/27844670#27844670
https://ecode360.com/print/33739911#33739911
https://ecode360.com/print/27844667#27844667
https://ecode360.com/print/27844671#27844671


2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 5/11

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 

(1) 

(2) 

H. 

I. 

A. 

Guidelines for its zone.

Maximum points: 10

Sustainable building.

The Commission may award two points for each of the following and up to 10 points total:

If the investment will result in the business generating at least 20% of its own energy
requirements.

If the investment will result in the business feeding energy back into the grid.

If the project meets at minimum LEED Gold standard or equivalent. (As of this writing,
LEED is the dominant evaluation system in the United States market and the one favored
for use by the GSA.)

If the project requires a public transportation node such as a bus stop.

If the project supplies a recharge station for electric vehicles.

Water-saving fixtures throughout.

"Sustainability" characteristics and measures are constantly evolving, and the Commission
may update this list periodically as it sees fit.

Maximum points: 10

Amount invested.

Points Investment
15 $3M or larger investment in construction or renovations
14 $1M or larger investment in construction or renovations
13 $800k or larger investment in construction or renovations
12 $500k or larger investment in construction or renovations
11 A business new to that parcel investing over $300k or a business

existing on that parcel investing at least $250k in construction or
renovations

10 A business new to that parcel investing over $200k or a business
existing on that parcel investing at least $100,000 in construction or
renovations

Maximum points: 15
Total Available Points: 90

§ 278-40. Tax incentive tiers and implementation.

Depending upon the number of points an application receives, it may be denied or, subject to a
vote by the Council, provided with one of tiers of tax abatement as follows:

Points Benefit
Fewer than 24 Denied
25-44 Third-tier benefit: 70% of fixed assessment abated for 2 years, or

50% of fixed assessment abated for 4 years

https://ecode360.com/print/33739912#33739912
https://ecode360.com/print/33739913#33739913
https://ecode360.com/print/33739914#33739914
https://ecode360.com/print/33739915#33739915
https://ecode360.com/print/33739916#33739916
https://ecode360.com/print/33739917#33739917
https://ecode360.com/print/27844677#27844677
https://ecode360.com/print/27844678#27844678
https://ecode360.com/print/27844676#27844676
https://ecode360.com/print/27844679#27844679
https://ecode360.com/print/27844690#27844690


2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 6/11

B. 

C. 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

D. 

E. 

F. 

A. 

(1) 

B. 

Points Benefit
45-69 Second tier benefit: 70% of fixed assessment abated for 3 years, or

50% of fixed assessment abated for 5 years
More than 70 Highest benefit: 100% of fixed assessment abated for Years 1-3,

70% of fixed assessment abated for Years 4-5, 50% of fixed
assessment abated for Year 6

The Town may abate real estate property taxes based on increased real property tax assessments
up to but not more than the percentages shown above.

The fixed assessment period shall commence the first fiscal year for which a tax list is prepared on
the October 1 immediately following the issuance of a certificate of occupancy by the appropriate
building official for construction of the buildings or manufacturing facilities or other structures and
all improvements in or on the real property which is the subject of the agreement. Notwithstanding
anything written in this article, the Town may, in its sole discretion, offer to enter into an agreement
with the applicant for the abatement of taxes of a lesser percentage and/or fewer years.

On a case-by-case basis, the Town may provide other incentives in addition to the incentives
provided by C.G.S. §§ 12-65b and 12-65h or in lieu thereof as follows:

Waiver of building permit fees;

Waiver of filing fees with land use agencies; or

Provision of in-kind services such as construction of access roads, or road widening,
construction of storm drains and culverts, sidewalks, or curbing, extension of water and/or
sewer lines or other public improvements.

Machinery and equipment defined in Subdivision (72) of C.G.S. § 12-81 and intended to qualify for
tax relief pursuant to C.G.S. § 12-65h shall have, for federal income tax purposes, a depreciable
useful life of five or seven years.

Construction shall commence within six months of, and not prior to, approval by the Town and
shall be completed no later than 24 months from the date of approval by the Town. The times for
commencement and completion of the construction are mandatory, except the applicant's
performance may be excused when the applicant is prevented from performing by causes beyond
the applicant's control, including natural disasters or other calamities or a local, state or national
declared state of emergency.

§ 278-41. Default by owner or lessee; recapture of abated taxes.

Abatement of taxes under this article constitutes a municipal subsidy to the successful applicant.
In the event that the applicant fails to meet negotiated benchmarks or other requirements as
described herein, they shall, by the terms of the agreement, be required to repay all abated
amounts, consistent with C.G.S. § 12-146 as of the date of default.

In addition to the specific timing benchmarks noted in § 278-40, the Town is encouraged to
establish relevant benchmarks to be met by a successful applicant related to the nature of the
business or the project. At a minimum, they must include the following triggers:

In the event the owner or lessee of the real property: (a) at any time fails to pay real estate
and/or personal property taxes when due and payable; (b) fails to commence or complete on
time the construction of all improvements upon the property which is the subject of the
agreement; (c) within 10 years of the date of the agreement, the applicant becomes insolvent
or bankrupt or files any debtor proceedings or others file such debtor proceedings against the
owner or lessee, in any court, in any jurisdiction, state or federal, and does not withdraw such
filing within 90 days or such other proceedings have not been dismissed or withdrawn by such
other parties within 90 days or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors or if the

https://ecode360.com/print/27844691#27844691
https://ecode360.com/print/27844692#27844692
https://ecode360.com/print/27844694#27844694
https://ecode360.com/print/27844695#27844695
https://ecode360.com/print/27844696#27844696
https://ecode360.com/print/27844693#27844693
https://ecode360.com/print/27844697#27844697
https://ecode360.com/print/27844698#27844698
https://ecode360.com/print/27844700#27844700
https://ecode360.com/print/27844702#27844702
https://ecode360.com/print/27844701#27844701
https://ecode360.com/print/27844689#27844689


2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 7/11

(a) 

(b) 

(2) 

property or lease is taken under a writ of execution or becomes the subject of foreclosure
proceedings; (d) abandons at any time the real property or, in the case of the lessee, purports
to assign its lease without the express consent of the Town as set forth in § 278-42 of this
article; or (e) fails to perform any obligation of owner or lessee or attain any benchmark set
under the terms of the agreement; such event shall constitute a material default of the
agreement, and the Town may terminate the agreement on the giving of written notice
whereupon:

The right of the owner and/or lessee under the terms of the agreement shall cease and
come to an end; and

The property owner and/or lessee shall be obligated to repay the Town the amounts of all
tax abatements retroactive to the due date of the first abated tax payment plus interest at
the rate set and payable pursuant to the provisions of C.G.S. § 12-146, all waived fees, if
any, and all actual costs to the Town in providing in-kind considerations to the property
owner and/or the lessee.

In the event of failure to pay a tax when due and if such delinquency continues for six months
and one day, the Town shall terminate the agreement whereupon (i) the right of the owner
and/or lessee to receive the tax abatement and any other considerations granted under the
terms of the agreement shall by terminated; and (ii) the property owner and/or lessee shall be
obligated to repay the Town the amounts of all tax abatements retroactive to the due date of
the first abated tax payment plus interest at the rate set and payable pursuant to provisions of
C.G.S. § 12-146, all waived fees, if any, and all actual costs to the Town in providing in-kind
considerations to the property owner and/or the lessee.

§ 278-42. Recapture terms.

It is of no benefit to East Hampton to drive an applicant in default into further economic straits by virtue
of an onerous repayment plan. Terms for the recapture of abated taxes as described in § 178-41
should be calculated to ensure the recapture of the highest possible percentage of public funds, taking
into account the fiscal reality of the applicant, the circumstances of the default, and the state of the
project.

§ 278-43. Assignment of agreement.

The agreement between the Town and the applicant shall not be assigned by the applicant to any
person(s) or business organization or entity or estate or trust without the express consent of both the
Council and the EDC, which shall signify their consents by an affirmative vote taken at a separate
meeting of each body duly noticed for the stated purpose. A conveyance of real property or a transfer
of ownership of the business or substantially all of the assets of the business which is the subject of
the agreement to a person or business organization or entity that is not owned or controlled by the
applicant shall not constitute a valid assignment of the agreement or vest any rights under the
agreement in the grantee of the real property or transferee of the business or of the assets of the
business or allow for enforcement of any obligations of the Town against the Town by the grantee or
transferee, including, but not limited to, any remaining tax abatements under the terms of the
agreement. A "controlled entity" means a business which is 80% or more owned by the grantor or
transferor.

§ 278-44. Amendments to applicable statutes.

All references in this article to C.G.S. § 12-65b or 12-65h or 12-81 or any other section of C.G.S. made
herein shall include all amendments to such statutes enacted and signed into law subsequent to the
effective date of this article.

https://ecode360.com/print/33739918#33739918
https://ecode360.com/print/33739919#33739919
https://ecode360.com/print/27844703#27844703
https://ecode360.com/print/27844704#27844704


2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 8/11

§ 278-44.1. Proposed agreement.

FORM OF AGREEMENT
TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON

AGREEMENT REGARDING REAL
PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT

__________
EAST HAMPTON, CONNECTICUT

This Agreement is entered into this ___ day of _____ by and between the TOWN OF EAST
HAMPTON, a municipal corporation and body politic having its corporate limits located within the
County of Middlesex and State of Connecticut (hereinafter the "Town"), and ____________________
of East Hampton, Connecticut ("Company"), a Connecticut corporation with a principal place of
business at ______________________________, East Hampton, Connecticut.
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, Company is responsible to pay all real property taxes associated with the real property
known as _________________ East Hampton, Connecticut ("the Real Property"); and
WHEREAS, Company intends to make improvements to the land and structures on the Real
Property, including the construction of approximately _____ square feet of commercial office building
and associated site improvements located on the Real Property (the "Facility"); and
WHEREAS, the estimated costs to be invested by Company in making the above-described
improvements to and constructing the Facility on the Real Property will be a minimum of
$__________; and
WHEREAS, the Town, acting by and through its duly authorized Tax Assessor, will assess and value
the Real Property and personal property on the Grand List of October 1, 2018.
WHEREAS, the Town wishes to assist Company in its plans to add real property and personal
property value to the Town's tax base; and
WHEREAS, the Town wishes to assist Company to develop its __________________ plans to be
submitted and approved to the Planning and Zoning Commission; and
WHEREAS, in consideration of the above, the Town is willing to provide tax relief to Company
pursuant to the East Hampton Business Incentive Program Ordinance as a Tier ___ tax abatement
for a period of _____ years commencing with the first date that tax payments are due under the
Grand List following the date of issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy for the Facility (the
"Abatement Term"); and
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the parties hereby covenant and agree that:
1. Cost of Improvements: The costs for the improvements shall equal or exceed $__________ in

construction costs. Company will install and properly account to the Town for all taxable
personal property assets added to or installed in the Facility.

2. Certificate of Occupancy: Company will commence construction within six months, and not prior,
to this Agreement and complete construction and obtain a Certificate of Occupancy not later
than 24 months from the date of this Agreement. Company shall actively operate or cause said
Facility to operate as __________ at the Real Property for not less than the Abatement Term
from the date of the Certificate of Occupancy.

3. Employment: Company shall use its best efforts to employ or cause to be employed at least ___
full-time and ___ part-time employees at said Facility throughout the Abatement Term.

4. Reduction of Assessment: Commencing with the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the
Real Property tax assessment shall be established on the Grand List for the period following the
issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, and the Town shall grant to Company a ___%
reduction in its Real Property assessment such that the net effect of the reduced assessment
reduces the tax liability for the Real Property in the amount of $________ over the _______ year



2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 9/11

period according to a schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A, including the above-described
Improvements and the construction of the Facility (the "Abatement").

5. Abatement Period: The Abatement Term shall be for a period of _____ years commencing with
the first date that tax payments are due under the Grand List following the date of issuance of a
Certificate of Occupancy for the Facility; provided, however, that if such assessment is changed
by any future Town revaluation, the tax payments due under the new assessed value of the Real
Property shall be adjusted for the remainder of the Abatement Term in accordance with the
terms of the Abatement set forth in Paragraph 4 above.

6. Tax Payment: Company shall maintain all tax obligations owed by it to the Town current and in
good standing during the Abatement Term.

7. Certification of Value of Site Improvements: Company shall be required to provide proof via
affidavit of an appropriate officer within one year after the commencement of operations at the
Facility as to a) the actual value of the site improvements and that said improvements are
substantially in conformance with the provisions hereof as to the scope of construction; b) the
cost of construction (a minimum of $_____.00); and c) the number and type (full-time or part-
time) of employees employed at such Facility.

8. Ongoing Employment Obligations: Notwithstanding anything herein contained to the contrary,
Company and the Town acknowledge and agree that, while Company shall make every good-
faith effort to maintain and employ at least _____ full-time and _____ part-time employees
during the Operating Term, economic circumstances, financial considerations, and employee
transience may make it impossible to maintain precisely the level of employment described
herein. Accordingly, Company and the Town acknowledge that variations in the numbers of
employees will occur and may continue for unspecified periods of time during the Operating
Term of this Agreement. Company will, upon request, disclose to Town its employment statistics
no more than once per year. Subject to the above requirement of good faith and Company's
cooperation in disclosing all efforts made to comply with the employment parameters stated
herein, such variations shall not otherwise constitute a default of this Agreement, provided the
Facility is operating in accordance with applicable law and Company is in compliance with the
terms of this Agreement in all other respects.

9. Default: The following events shall constitute an event of default: Company at any time fails pay
real estate and/or personal property taxes when due and payable; or Company fails to
commence or complete on time the construction of all improvements upon the property which is
the subject of the agreement; or Company, within 10 years of the date of the Agreement,
becomes insolvent or bankrupt or files any debtor proceedings or others file such debtor
proceedings against the owner or lessee in any court, in any jurisdiction, state or federal, and
does not withdraw such filing within 90 days, or such other proceedings have not been
dismissed or withdrawn by such other parties within 90 days; or Company makes an assignment
for the benefit of creditors; or Company property or lease is taken under a writ of execution or
becomes the subject of foreclosure proceedings; or Company abandons at any time the real
property or in the case of the lessee purports to assign its lease without the express consent of
the Town as set forth in this Ordinance; or Company fails to perform any obligation of owner or
lessee or attain any benchmark set under the terms of this Agreement. In such event of default,
the Town shall provide notice to the Company of such event of default, and the Company shall
have 30 days from such notice within which to cure such default. In the event Company fails to
cure the default with 30 days of such notice, then this Agreement shall be null and void, and the
Company shall reimburse the Town for all tax relief provided to Company, retroactive to the due
date of the first abated tax payment, plus interest at the rate set and payable pursuant to the
provisions of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 12-146, or other applicable statute, plus all prior waived fees, if
any, plus all actual costs to the Town in providing in-kind considerations to the Company, and
the Town shall be under no obligation to grant further tax relief hereunder.

10. Legal Action to Enforce the Terms: In the event that the Town must resort to legal action to
enforce the terms of this Agreement, any amount determined by a Court of competent
jurisdiction to be due from Company shall be subject to interest at the rate of 18% per annum.
Such interest shall accrue from the postmark date for the notice of default described in



2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 10/11

Paragraph 9. In addition, the Town shall be entitled to recover from Company all costs of
collection, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred in enforcing this Agreement.

11. No Further Abatement: Company acknowledges and agrees that the Abatement offered
pursuant to this Agreement is not binding upon the Town and shall not continue, beyond the
_____ year Abatement Term agreed to herein.

12. No Admission as to Values: Company and the Town acknowledge and agree that the values
placed upon the Real Property, the Facility, and/or the Improvements as a result of the
Abatement shall not now or at any other time be construed as an admission by any party or as
evidence of any kind as to the true fair market value of the Real Property, the Facility, and/or the
Improvements.

13. Notices: All notices hereunder are to be sent by the Town to Company at the following address
or to such other address as requested by the Company or its successors or assigns:
__________, East Hampton, CT 06424 Attention: _____. All such notices shall be sent via
certified mail, return receipt requested, or overnight mail service. Notices are deemed effective
upon delivery. Any refusal to accept such delivery shall still constitute the delivery of proper
notice.

14. Assignment: Company may not assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations under this
Agreement without the prior written authorization of the Town Council and Economic
Development Commission, which shall signify their consents by an affirmative vote taken at a
separate meeting of each body duly noticed for the stated purpose. A conveyance of the Real
Property or a transfer of ownership of the Company business or substantially all of the assets of
the Company to a person or business organization or entity that is not a "controlled entity" which
is owned or controlled by the Company shall not constitute a valid assignment of the Agreement
or vest any rights under the Agreement in the grantee of the Real Property or transferee of the
Company or the assets of the Company or allow for enforcement of any obligations of the Town
against the Town by the grantee or transferee, including, but not limited to, any remaining tax
abatements under the terms of the Agreement. A "controlled entity" means a business which is
80% or more owned by the Company as grantor or transferor.

15. Release of Liability: Company and/or its successors or assigns releases the Town and its
agents, servants and employees from any and all liability, of whatever nature, legal or equitable,
which may have arisen or which may arise in connection with this Agreement, including the
implementation hereof.

16. Indemnification: Company and/or its successors or assigns shall defend and indemnify the Town
and any of its agents, servants and employees against any action, claim or suit of any nature
whatsoever, arising from the Town's being a party to this Agreement and/or any undertaking of
its obligations hereunder.

17. Execution: This Agreement has been executed by the parties' respective agents, duly
authorized and acting in his or her official capacity.

18. Amendment: This Agreement may be amended only by mutual consent of the parties, and any
amendments to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be duly executed and dated by the
respective parties.

19. Complete Agreement: This Agreement represents the entire and complete understanding and
agreement of the parties, and any and all prior written or oral agreements not otherwise
contained in this Agreement shall be and are hereby null and void and of no force or effect.

20. Choice of Law and Venue: In the event that litigation or other dispute resolution process arises,
all litigation and dispute resolution shall take place in the State of Connecticut, Judicial District of
Middlesex, and the Agreement shall be construed in accordance with Connecticut law, without
regard to its conflict of law provisions.

21. Notice of Tax Abatement: Upon the execution of this Agreement, a copy of this Agreement or a
proper "Notice of Tax Abatement Agreement" shall be filed upon the land records of the Town
with respect to the Real Property.

22. Special Conditions: In addition to all other terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Town's
obligations under this Agreement are conditioned on the following ("the Conditions"):



2/18/22, 10:09 AM Town of East Hampton, CT Ecode360

https://ecode360.com/print/EA2236?guid=27844623&children=true 11/11

(a) Project Financing: Company demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the East
Hampton Finance Director that it has private financing and state and federal grants in place
in an amount sufficient to undertake and complete the project;

(b) Property Maintenance: Company demonstrates that it has maintenance contracts in place to
keep the property maintained during the period of construction;

(c) Non-Transferable: As set forth in Paragraph 14 herein, Company acknowledges and affirms
that this tax abatement is non-transferable and any transfer of the tax abatement to a non-
related entity shall be an event of default; and

(d) _____ [other specific terms]
In the event that the Company fails to satisfy the Conditions set forth in this Special Conditions
paragraph, this Agreement shall be null and void and the Real Property as improved shall be
assessed in accordance with the Connecticut General Statutes without regard to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement.

SIGNATURES FOLLOW
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have hereunto set their hands and seals as of the day
and year first written above.
Witnessed By: COMPANY:
_____________________________________

By: _____________________________
Its CEO, Duly Authorized

_____________________________________
Witnessed By: TOWN:
_____________________________________

By: _____________________________
Its Town Manager, Duly Authorized

_____________________________________



ETAP: EAST HAMPTON TAX ABATEMENT PROGRAM
EAST HAMPTON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION

TOWN COUNCIL BRIEFING, 6/27/2023



EAST HAMPTON TAX ORDINANCE: BUSINESS INCENTIVE
GOALS: CLARIFY, SIMPLIFY, EXPAND OPPORTUNITY

Town Council Directive

 Make East Hampton competitive

 Allow businesses to start investing in East Hampton 
before application is submitted

 Expand opportunities to drive business investment 
in East Hampton

 Simplify application

EDC Response

 Benchmark tax incentive & abatement programs in 
the local area and in CT towns similar in size to East 
Hampton

 Maximize benefit to East Hampton’s economic 
development

 Increase EDC responsiveness to business climate

 Drive clarity & transparency



REBRAND AS ETAP: 
EAST HAMPTON TAX ABATEMENT PROGRAM

Tax abatement starting at minimum 
$100k investment level

Application within one year of receiving 
building permits

Company shall obtain Certificate of 
Occupancy not later than 24 months 

after tax abatement agreement is signed



MAXIMIZE BENEFIT TO EAST HAMPTON: 
EXPAND ABATEMENT CRITERIA

Cobalt Center Mixed-use with less 
than 20% residential

Greater than 50% 
service business

Provides services for 
senior citizens, families, 

youth

Provides adult 
recreation 

opportunities

Provides growth for 
existing businesses in 

East Hampton

Supports a healthy 
Lake Pocotopaug 

watershed

Supports or 
contributes to 

reduction of cost for a 
Town public water 

system



ETAP APPLICATION
APPLICATION TRANSFORMED INTO A 
QUICK & EASY CHECKLIST



SIMPLIFY ORDINANCE: REMOVE SCORING & CRITERIA

Increases EDC 
responsiveness to a shifting 
business climate

Annual evaluation of 
application & scoring 
criteria

Drives transparency to the 
applicant & Town Council

Clarifies criteria for 
businesses via simplified 
application



ETAP: EAST HAMPTON TAX ABATEMENT PROGRAM
SUMMARY: CLARIFY, SIMPLIFY, EXPAND OPPORTUNITY

Town Council Directive

 Make East Hampton competitive

 Allow businesses to start investing in East Hampton 
before application is submitted

 Expand opportunities to drive business investment 
in East Hampton

 Simplify application

EDC Response

 Allow businesses to invest in East Hampton first by 
moving to an abatement program

 Expanded criteria for abatement opportunity

 Simplified application



Agenda Item 9b



Middle School Roof Committee  1 6/16/23 Minutes 

East Hampton 

Middle School Roof Building Committee 

East Hampton, CT  06424 

MINUTES:  June 16, 2023 

Voting Members Present:    

Kevin Reich, Committee Chair, East Hampton Town Council Member 

Nancy Kohler, Board of Education Member 

Other Committee Members Present: 

Paul Smith, Superintendent 

Steve Fontanella, Director of Facilities and Roof Project Manager 

Shelly Cibula, Recording Secretary 

Call to Order  

The meeting was called to order by Chair, Mr. Reich at 11:13 a.m. in the East Hampton Town Hall Conference 

Room #102 and via Zoom. 

Approval of Minutes  

A motion was made by Ms. Kohler, seconded by Mr. Reich to approve the minutes of the April 4, 2023 

Meeting.  Voted Unanimously. 

Project Bid Approval 

A summary of three bids that were received were reviewed.   Contractor bid details were evaluated for relevant 

experience, availability of materials and the pros-and-cons of an extended warrantee.  The substantial project 

completion by the start of the 2023-24 school-year was determined as mandatory.   

A motion by Ms. Kohler, seconded by Mr. Reich to accept the lowest bid from Armani Restoration, Inc. of a 

base bid of $1,708,000 and a possible additional work allowance of $90,500, for a maximum project cost of 

$1,798,500.  This approved bid amount is for the 60-mil black EPDM with a 20-year warrantee. 

Voted Unanimously. 

Future Meeting 

The committee plans to meet at the end of July and August and as needed.  TBD 

Adjournment 

A motion to adjourn was made by Ms. Kohler, seconded by Mr. Reich.  The meeting was adjourned at 11:33 

a.m.

Respectfully Submitted, 

Shelly Cibula, Recording Secretary 

Agenda Item 9c



Company 

Name Base

allow 1 

Metal Deck

allow 2 

Wood block

allow 3 

wood block

allow 4 

Caulk 

removal

allow 5 

Masonry

allow 6 Alum 

Fascia total allow
Barrett $2,111,900.00 $376,000.00 $3,000.00 $40,000.00 $60,000.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $629,000.00

Armani $1,708,000.00 $36,000.00 $1,000.00 $32,000.00 $40.00 LF $1,500.00 $20,000.00 $90,500.00 plus caulk removal

OffShore $1,762,000.00 $30,520.00 $18,700.00 $1,400.00 $40,500.00 $91,120.00 plus caulk removal















PAUL K. SMITH RODNEY L. MOSIER II 
Superintendent of Schools Director of Special Education 

and Pupil Personnel Services 

MARY E. CLARK 1 COMMUNITY DRIVE, SUITE 1 KAREN ASETTA 
Director of Curriculum and Instruction EAST HAMPTON, CONNECTICUT 06424 School Business Manager 

860-365-4000

CONTRACTOR’S NOTICE TO PROCEED 

June 16, 2023 

PROJECT: 

State Project # 042-0042 RR 

East Hampton Middle School Roof Replacement 

19 Childs Road 

East Hampton, CT  06424 

PROJECT CONTACT: 

Steve Fontanella, Director of Facilities 

Town of East Hampton 

1 Community Drive 

East Hampton, CT  06424 

sfontanella@easthamptonct.org 

860-894-9819

TO: 

Armani Restoration, Inc. 

95 Bysiewicz Drive 

Middletown, CT  06457 

Dear Armani Restoration, Inc: 

You are hereby notified to proceed with the roof replacement at the above project.  Upon receipt of this notice, you are 

responsible for performing the work on said project under the terms and conditions of the bid specifications.   

The Building Committee has voted to install the 20-year warrantee Black 60 mil EPDM.  Please be aware that any 

change orders for any of the alternate work needs pre-approval 

Regards, 

Paul K. Smith 

Superintendent of Schools 

mailto:sfontanella@easthamptonct.org


Agenda Item 9d







TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 
CONSERVATION – LAKE COMMISSION 

AGENDA REPORT 

DATE:  June 21, 2023 

SUBJECT: Use of Metafloc in Lake Pocotopaug 

DEPARTMENT: Conservation - Lake Commission 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
During a special meeting on Wednesday, June 21st at 10:00 am the Conservation – Lake Commission 
approved a motion following discussion from the members to apply Metafloc, a biological phosphorus 
bunding agent to lake Pocotopaug to be used as a clarifier. Metafloc is designed to bind phosphorus in the 
water column and drop it to the bottom of the lake. The commission feels this treatment will help reduce 
phosphorus in the water column which will help reduce the rate of cyanobacteria forming at the surface. 
Here is the website that talks about Metafloc in more detail:  https://naturalake.com/product/metafloc/  
The commission voted unanimously to pass this motion 7 – 0.  

BACKGROUND OF METAFLOC 

As the data has shown over the past three seasons, the aeration and biological treatment program has done 
a very good, BUT not perfect job of reducing phosphorus to levels required to further minimize the risk of 
harmful algal blooms. We have provided detailed analysis showing that post aeration phosphorus 
concentrations across the entire water column have dropped from an average concentration of 46 ug/l pre-
aeration to 28 ug/l in 2022. 

However, it is generally agreed that getting a lake to below 20 ug/l is the target to almost certainly 
eliminate the risk or harmful algal blooms. In addition, lakes with P levels below 20 ug/l typically have 
water clarity of 2 meters or better. This would be very desirable for Lake Pocotopaug 

There are two reasons why aeration and biological treatment are not the perfect solutions for phosphorus 
reduction: 

1. Aeration increases biological activity at the bottom which is very beneficial in reducing organic
material at the bottom over time, but this process also releases some phosphorus to the water
column as part of the process of biodegrading the material. This release of P is MUCH less than
what is released from sediments in a lake bottom with no oxygen as is reflected in the P data for
Lake Pocotopaug pre and post aeration.

2. Beneficial, aerobic bacteria are great at consuming carbon (organic matter) and nitrogen BUT not
nearly as good at consuming or binding phosphorus.

Metafloc fills these gaps and has the potential to dramatically accelerate the pace of our restoration effort 
for Lake Pocotopaug. 

We have done the necessary calculations and it would take just 300 gallons of Metafloc to neutralize more 
than 200 lbs. Phosphorus in Lake Pocotopaug. This would drop total P levels close to 15 ug/l. Achieving 

Agenda Item 9e

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flc1.shztrk.com%2Fr%2Fe%2FbLg5eTnjVWkiaPvlw%3Fr%3Dhttps%3A%2F%2Fnaturalake.com%2Fproduct%2Fmetafloc%2F&data=05%7C01%7Cjhall%40easthamptonct.gov%7C838b007f7d02431dc28108db6dd666e0%7C2bd83674902d4620813051f2f9bba9ff%7C0%7C0%7C638224539860461111%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=6qtx4FgudOYpJILAzv0B5dOP6aPmUraP%2Bdw%2B%2FYZpTIw%3D&reserved=0


this would immediately reduce the level of water column blue-green algae and boost the effectiveness of 
both the aeration and BioBlast treatments in the lake by reducing the overall oxygen demand in the lake. 
  
The cost for the treatment would be: 
  

• Product Cost: $19,800 
• Application: $1,650 

 
The commission understands that using this funding source will eliminate the potential to apply bio blast 
for a fourth time during the summer of 2023. As it stands, the town currently budgets for 4 bio blast 
treatments each summer at a cost of $12,500 per application and will adjust accordingly to stay on budget 
for in lake treatments.  
 
 
Chair of the Conservation Lake Commission 
Chuck Yenkner  
 
 
          
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 

 



TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 

CONSERVATION-LAKE COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 21, 2023 

10:00 AM 

TOWN HALL 2ND FLOOR MEETING ROOM #201 AND VIA ZOOM 

MINUTES 

Present: Vice Chairman Jack Solomon, John Purple, Marty Podskoch, Chairman Chuck 
Yenkner, Wes Jenks, and Jason Hartling with Parks & Rec Director Jeremy Hall.  

Absent: Cheryl Lobo, Margaret Wilcox, Victor Rodriguez 

Call to Order: Chairman Yenkner called the meeting to order at 10:00am at the Town Hall in 
the 2nd floor meeting room and via Zoom. Alternate member John Purple was seated. 

New Business: Chairman Yenkner discussed the use of MetaFloc as a clarifier product to be 
used for in lake treatment. Yenkner read verbatim an email received by the State of CT that 
stated the town did not need permitted approval of this product to be used in the lake as it was 
clear the product would be used as a clarifier.  

A motion was made by Mr. Solomon, seconded by Mr. Hartling, to approve the application of 
MetaFloc for use in Lake Pocotopaug and applied by EverBlue Lakes. Voted 6-0 in favor. 

Adjournment: Chairman Yenkner adjourned the meeting at 10:12 am 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Jeremy Hall 
Director of Parks & Recreation 



July 2023 Budget

EXPENDITURES

EDUCATION 675,000$  

TOWN OPERATIONS

   ADMINISTRATION & FINANCE 400,000 

   PUBLIC SAFETY 248,000 

   HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES 41,500 

   CULTURE & RECREATION 70,000 

   REGULATORY 21,000 

   PUBLIC WORKS 142,000 

TRANSFERS TO OTHER FUNDS

   OTHER FUNDS ‐ 

   CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT ‐ 

DEBT SERVICE 1,471,425 

TOWN OPERATIONS 2,393,925$  

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 3,068,925$  

Agenda Item 9f



Finance Department 

Memo
To: David Cox, Town Manager  

From: Jeff Jylkka, Finance Director 

Date: 06/19/2023 

Re: Pension plan amendment no. 2023-1 

In consultation with the Town’s pension attorney and actuary, I am proposing the following 
amendment (attached) to the Town’s pension plan. The first recommended change (1.4 
Actuarial Equivalent) updates the current 1971 mortality table to PUB-2010 (Public Retirement 
Plans Mortality Tables) and projection table to MP-2021 (Mortality Improvement Scale). This 
amendment also puts an evergreen clause to allow for the mortality table to be automatically 
updated when the PUB table is updated (generally every five years). This proposed change will 
have no financial impact on the pension plan. 

The second amendment allows a participant who terminated employment on or after their 
normal retirement date but does not elect to commence benefit payments until after their normal 
retirement date to receive an increase in their annual pension payment. The employee will have 
a choice to receive their normal benefit payment over a longer period of time or wait and receive 
a larger payment over a shorter period of time. This proposed change will have no financial 
impact on the pension plan. 

The last proposed amendment allows the pension plan to retain any benefit due to a participant, 
spouse or beneficiary if that individual is unable to be located. This proposed change may have 
a positive financial impact on the pension plan. 

Agenda Item 9g



19664229-v1 

AMENDMENT NO. 2023-1 
TO THE 

TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON RETIREMENT INCOME PLAN 

The Town of East Hampton Retirement Income Plan (the “Plan”) is hereby amended 
effective January 1, 2023 pursuant to Section 15.1 of the Plan as follows: 

I. 

Article I of the Plan is amended by deleting Section 1.4 thereof and substituting the 
following new Section 1.4 therefore: 

1.4   “Actuarial Equivalent” means the actuarial equivalent determined using the 
following assumptions: 

(a) Mortality:

(1) Effective July 1, 2023, the base mortality tables shall be the PUB-2010
tables.  These tables shall be updated effective on the July 1 next following
publication of updated PUB tables.  The following base PUB mortality tables
shall be used:

a. Non-Police members: General Liability-weighted Healthy Annuitant
b. Non-Police beneficiaries:  General Liability-weighted Contingent

Annuitant
c. Police members:  Public Safety Liability-weighted Healthy Annuitant
d. Police beneficiaries:  General Liability-weighted Contingent Annuitant

(2) Effective July 1, 2023, the projection table shall be the MP-2021 Ultimate
Mortality Improvement Scale.  This table shall be updated to the most recently
published MP Ultimate Mortality Improvement Scale when an updated version of
the PUB tables is effective as provided in (a)(1) above.  For avoidance of doubt,
for Actuarial Equivalent purposes the projection table shall only be updated when
the PUB tables are updated (generally every five years) and not upon publication
of updated MP tables (generally every year).

(3) Mortality improvement shall be projected on a static basis to a date equal to the
base year of the PUB table plus 30.  Effective July 1, 2023, the projection shall be
to 2010 + 30 = 2040.  This year shall be updated when an updated version of the
PUB tables is effective as provided in (a)(1) above.

(4) Both the base PUB tables and the MP projection table shall be a blend of the
respective tables for males and females.  Effective July 1, 2023, the gender ratios
used to create the blended tables shall be:

a. Non-Police members:  50% male and 50% female
b. Non-Police beneficiaries:  50% male and 50% female
c. Police members:  90% male and 10% female



2 

d. Police beneficiaries:  10% male and 90% female
e. At such time as an updated version of the PUB tables is effective as

provided in (a)(1), these gender ratios shall be redetermined based on the
actual gender mix of active plus terminated vested members, separately
for Police and Non-Police, rounded to the nearest 10%, as of the valuation
date one year earlier than the effective date. The gender ratio for
beneficiaries shall be the converse of the gender ratio for members.

(b) Interest rate: 6.00%.
     II. 

Article V of the Plan is amended by adding the following paragraph at the end of Section 
5.2  thereof:

If a Participant terminates employment with the Employer but does not elect to 
commence benefit payments until after his Normal Retirement Date, that Participant’s 
monthly normal retirement benefit will be the Actuarial Equivalent of the Participant’s 
benefit at Normal Retirement Date.   

     III. 

Article XIII of the Plan is amended by adding a new Section 13.7 at the end thereof to 
read as follows: 

13.7. Location of Participant 

In the event that notice of any benefit that shall become payable or due hereunder to any 
Participant,  Spouse or Beneficiary is provided to such person  and such person does not 
respond within two (2) years after the mailing of such notice and the Administrator is 
unable locate such person, the amount of said benefit shall be forfeited. However, in the 
event that such person is subsequently located, such benefit shall be restored and paid in 
accordance with the terms of the Plan.  The Administrator’s obligation to locate 
individuals under this Section shall be satisfied if the Administrator employs reasonable 
efforts to that end. 

IV. 

If there shall be any inconsistency between the provisions of this Amendment 2023-1 and 
the provisions of the Plan as amended, this Amendment 2023-1 shall control.  

Executed this _____ day of _______________, 2023. 

TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 

By:  
Its 



Agenda Item 12


	2023 Ch 278 Article IX Ordinance Revision.pdf
	Chapter 278. Taxation
	Article IX. Business Incentive Program
	§ 278-32. Purpose.
	§ 278-33. Program implementation by Town.
	§ 278-34. Duties of the Economic Development Commission
	§ 278-35. General Requirements
	§ 278-36. Application procedure.
	§ 278-37. Assessment of property subject to agreement.
	§ 278-38. Application scoring evaluation guidelines.
	§ 278-39. Scoring Evaluation criteria categories.
	§ 278-40. Tax abatement incentive tiers and implementation.
	§ 278-41. Default by owner or lessee; recapture of abated taxes.
	§ 278-42. Recapture terms.
	§ 278-43. Assignment of agreement.
	§ 278-44. Amendments to applicable statutes.
	§ 278-45. Proposed agreement.

	EDC ETAP 2023.pdf
	ETAP: East Hampton Tax Abatement program
	East Hampton tax ordinance: business incentive�Goals: Clarify, simplify, expand Opportunity
	Rebrand as ETAP: �East Hampton Tax Abatement program
	Maximize benefit to east Hampton: �Expand abatement Criteria
	ETAP APplication
	Simplify Ordinance: Remove scoring & Criteria
	ETAP: East Hampton Tax abatement Program�Summary: Clarify, simplify, expand Opportunity

	Pension Information.pdf
	2023-1 Pension Amendment Memo
	To:
	From:
	Date:
	Re:

	East Hampton  Retirement Income Plan - Amendment 2023-1
	I.





